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June 6, 2019

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Secretariat Building, PICC Complex,
Roxas Boulevard, Pasay City, 1307

Attention: Director Gerardo F. Del Rosario
Company Registration and Monitoring Department

Gloria P. Manzon
Assistant Director
Financial Analysis and Audit Division

Re: Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philipbines) Corporation (“MRP”} Group
Application for Equity Restructuring

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We write in connection with the application of MRP and its subsidiaries for approval to
undergo equity restructuring by applying additional paid-in capltal (“APIC") to eliminate
accumulated deficit.

MRP, through its subsidiaries, develops and operates City of Dreams Manila, an integrated
hotel, gaming, retail, and entertainment complex within the Entertainment City in Parafiaque
City.

MRP’s subsidiaries are MPHIL Holdings No. 1 Corporation (*“MPHIL Holdings No. 17}, MPHIL
Holdings No. 2 Corporation ("MPHIL Holdings No. 27}, and Melco Resorts Leisure (PHP)
Corporation (“Melco Resorts Leisure”) (MRP, MPHIL Holdings No. 1, MPHIL Holdings No. 2
and Melco Resorts Leisure are collectively referred to as the “MRP Group™ while each is
referred to as “Corporation”).

Each Corporation has a significant amount of APIC in its books due to the share premium
over par value paid by each Corporation’s shareholder(s) in connection with the subscription
fo and issuance of shares.

While the property was opening in stages and ramping up its operations, the MRP Group

had incurred substantial losses that, to date, each Corporation has reported accumulated
deficit and negative retained earnings (i.e., retained earnings deficit) position.
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The capital structure of the MRP Group as of 31 December 2018 is as follows:

MRP Common @ 5 900 000 000 5 900 000 000.00 5, 687 270 800 00 5 687 270 800.00
£1.00 par
value per
share

MPHIL | Common @ | 5,200,000,000 { 5,200,000,000.00 | 2,281,894,500.00 | 2,281,894,500.00
Holdings | 1.00 par
No. 1 value per
share

MPHIL Common @ | 5,200,000,000 | 5,200,000,000.00 | 2,281,894,500.00 | 2,281,894,500.00
Holdings | #1.00 par
No. 2 value per
share

Melco Common @ | 5,200,000,000 | 5,200,000,000.00 | 2,281,894,500.00 | 2,281,894,500.00
Resorts | £1.00 par
Leisure | value per
share

The share premium/APIC and accumulated deficits of each Corporation as at 31 December
2018 are as follows:

O e ‘ B . Net Deficit: i
MRP 22 259 788,014, 37 (134,567,233.09)
MPHIL Holdings No. 1 . 21,060,978,279.70 (21,750,558.18)
MPHIL Holdings No. 2 20,998,267,577.00 (18,153,719.43)
Melco Resorts Leisure 20,993,047,577.00 (15,535,491,382.34)

In light of the foregoing, the MRP Group respectfully requests for the approval of its equity
restructuring pian to eliminate the respective accumulated deficit of each of MRP, MPHIL
Holdings No. 1, MPHIL Holdings No. 2, and Melco Resoris Leisure as of 31 December 31,
2018 (the “Deficit”) by applying each Corporation’s existing APIC against its Deficit.

If approved by the Honorable Commission, the equity restructuring will result in compietely
eliminating the Deficit of each member of the MRP Group.

After eliminating the Deficit, there will still be excess APIC for each Corporation (“Net APIC™),
in the following amounts:

B S NERAPIC:E EA 5
MRP 22,125,220,781.28
MPHIL Holdings No. 1 21,029,227,721.52
MPHIL Holdings No. 2 20,980,113,857.57
Melco Resorts Leisure 5,457,556,194.66

in support of this request, we hereby submit the following:

1.) Certification under oath by the Corporate Secretary on the resolution of the Board of
Directors of each Corporation approving the equity restructuring plan;

2.) Audited financial statements of each Corporation as of 31 December 2018, stamped
received by the Bureau of Internal Revenue and the SEC; and

3.) Compliance Monitoring Division (CMD) Clearance for each Corporation.

3478-0533-7357, v. 1
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We trust that this request will merit your prompt and favorable consideration. Thank you.

Very truly yours,
MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION

By:

Clarente Yuk Map Chung
President

MPHIL HOLDINGS NO. 1 CORPORATION

By:

Clarence Yuk Nlan Chung
President

MPHIL HOLDINGS NO. 2 CORPORATION

President

MELCO RESORTS LEISURE (PHP) CORPORATION

By:

Clarence Yuk Man Chung
President

3478-0533-7357, v. 1






the authority for the taking of such acts and things and the signing, making, execution,
delivery, issue and filing of such of the foregoing to be conclusively evidenced thereby.

RESOLVED FINALLY, that any and afl actions of the Corporation and/or any of its
subsidiaries, or any Authorized Person, or such other duly authorized person, taken in
connection with the actions contemplated by the foregoing resolutions prior to the date of
these resolutions be ratified, confirmed, approved and adopted in all respects as if such
actions had been presented to all Directors for approval, and approved by them prior to such
action being taken.

3. The foregoing Resolutions have not been altered, modified, nor revoked and that
the same are now in full force and in effect.

4. This Certification is issued to attest to the truth of the foregoing Resolutions.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand on June 3, 2019 at Parafiaque

A

MARIE GRACE A. SAN
Coxporat Secret
/
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this 3™ of Jine 2019 in Paraiaque Clty
affiant exhibiting to me her Passport No. P4765321A issued at DFA, Manila, valid untll
October 18, 2022.

City.

Doc. No. 5pb
Page No. ID:)
BookNo. T[
Series of 2019. - ntil December 31, 2019
Notarial Comenission No. 166-2018
Roll No. 54527

PTR No. 1713015/01-04-19/ Parafiaque City
IBP No. 059338/01-07-19/Makati City
MCLE Compliance No. VI-0015574
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Melco Resorts and Entertaimment (Philippines) Corporation and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is responsible for the preparation
and fajr presentation of the consolidated financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 20186, in accordance
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsibie for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements
including the schedules attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has
audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine
Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on
the faimess of presentation upon completion of such audit.

CLARFNCE YUK MAN CHUNG
President & Chaimzian of the Board

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 1™ day of Aprl 2019 at Parafiaque
City, affiant exhibiting to me his Passport details, as follows:

Name Passport No. Expiration Date | Place of Issue

Clarence Yuk Man Chung KJ0527144 July 15,2026 ‘China
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DONALD N. TATEISHI

Treasurer
10 /e

SUBSCRI E D SWORN to before me this day of April 2019 at
' l 1, affiant exhibiting to me his Passport details, as follows:

Name Passport No. Expiration Date | Place of Issue
Donald N. Tateishi 518936680 October 1, 2024 USA
Doc. No. 49%; ATTY. JOVIND R.ANGEL
Page No. P
Book No. ;
Series of 2019.

2034 BC 25763
AOLE COMF L7
0. V- 22151

W PE/ 3048
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation
Asean Avenue cor. Roxas Boulevard

Brgy. Tambo, Parafiaque City 1701

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines)
Corporation and iis subsidiaries (the Group}, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2018, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs),

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
stalements in the Philippines, and we have fuifilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period, These maiters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s RespaprsTif} RRIBAERN S REVENUE
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relekise tax HAY Tﬁ%’g‘gﬁ%,o“
' 0

Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures desigifed to r4spo
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial staternE[at ag;gof ugaRdit

procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matterg below{ pro theld%%"}?or o
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements,

A membe! fum of Emal & Young Global Limited
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Adequacy of Allowance jor Doubtful Debts

Effective January 1, 2018, the Group has adopted PFRS 9, Financial Instruments under the modified
retrospective method. PFRS 9, which replaced PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement, introduces a forward-looking expected credit loss model to assess impairment on debt
financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group’s adoption of the expected credit loss (ECL) mode! in calculating the altowance for doubtful
accounts of its gaming receivables is significant to our audit as it involves the exercise of significant
management judgment. Key areas of judgment include: segmenting the Group’s credit risk exposures;
defining default; determining assumptions to be used in the ECL mode! such as timing and amounts of
expected net recoveries from defaulted accounts; and incorporating forward-looking information (called
overlays) in.calculating ECL.

The disclosures 'oﬁ the allowance for doubtful debts are included in Notes 4 and 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of management’s estimation process for allowance for doubtful debts,
which includes understanding of the methodologies and models used by the Group and assesscd whether
these considered the requirements of PFRS 9 to reflect an unbiased and probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money, and the best available forward-looking information. We identified and tested
controls surrounding such process.

We (i) assessed the Group’s segmentation of its credit risk exposures based on homogeneity of credit risk
characteristics; (ii) tested the definition of default against historical analysis of accounts and credit risk
management policies and practices in place; (iii) tested historical loss rates by inspecting historical
recoveries and write-offs; (iv) checked the classification of outstanding exposures to their corresponding
aging buckets; and (v) checked forward-looking information based on our understanding of the Group’s
receivable portfolios and industry practices.

Further, we checked the data used in the ECL models, such as the historical collection analysis and
default and recovery data, by examining supporting documents for credits granted to players and their
subsequent settlement and performing an analysis of gaming receivables® aging buckets. We obtained
confirmation from junkets with receivable balances, checked subsequent collections and performed
inquiries on the status of collection.

We recalculated impairment provisions on & sample basis, We checked the transition adjustments and
reviewed the disclosures made in the financial statements based on the requirements of PFRS 9,

BUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE
LARGE TAXPAYERS SERVICE
LARGE TAXPAYERS ASSISTANCE MVISION
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Adoption of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Effective January 1, 2018, the Group has adopted PFRS 15, Revenwe from Contracts with Custoners
under the modified retrospective approach. The adoption of PFRS 15 resulted in changes in the Group’s
revenue process and revenue recognition accounting policy. The adoption of PFRS 15 resuited to the
following significant judgments and estimates by management: (i) identification of the contracts for
gaming services; (ii) identification of performance obligations; (iii) determination of transaction prices;
and {iv) allocation of the transaction prices to the performance obligations,

The Group applied PFRS 15 guidance to a portfolio of contracts with similar characteristics as the entity
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements of applying this guidance to
the porifolio would not differ materially from applying this guidance to the individual contracts within
that portfolio. Hence, the Group viewed a gaming day as one contract. In defermining the performance
obligations in the contract, the Group considers as a separate performance obligation for the promotional
merchandise provided to patrons as part of the marketing activities, and incentives granted in conjunction
with the gaming activity. In determining the transaction prices, the Group considers the effect of
commissions paid through gaming promoters. In the allocation of transaction prices, the Group considers
the amount at which the entity would sel] or purchase the promotional merchandise or incentives
separately as the stand-alone selling prices of the performance obligations.

The disciosures on the allowance for the adoption of PFRS 15 are included in Notes 3 and 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Audit Response

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s revenue recognition process, including the process of
implementing the new revenue recognition standard, and identified and tested the key controls
surrounding the process. We reviewed the PFRS 15 adoption impact assessment prepared by
management, including revenue streams identification and scoping and contract identification.

For the identification of contracts in the application of PFRS 15 guidance, we assessed the practicability
of monitoring the play of each patron and the effect of applying PERS 15 guidance on a portfolio basis
considering our understanding of the Group’s operations. For the determination of performance
obligations in the contracts, we obtained an understanding of the nature of the promotional merchandise
provided to patrons as part of the marketing activities and the incentives provided to patrons in
conjunction with the gaming activities on a discretionary and non-discretionary basis. For the
determination of the transaction prices, we obtained an understanding of the rebates paid through gaming
promoters, including the judgment and determination of considerations to which the Group is entitled
using ail available information, and checked the amounts paid to gaming promoters through inspection of
settlement documents. We tested the stand-alone selling prices of the promotional merchandise and
incentives against the market prices and checked the allocation of the transaction prices to the different
performance obligations,

We reviewed the transition adjustments and evaluated the disclosures m%ﬂ%%msﬁéww E

the adoption of PFRS 15. LARGE TAXPAYERS ASSISTANCE DIVISION
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the SEC

Form 17-A for the year ended December 31, 2018 but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained ptior to the date of this auditor’s report,
and the SEC Form 20-IS (Definitive Information Statement) and Annual Report for the year ended
December 31, 2018, which is expected to be made available to us afier that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusions thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obfained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude thdt there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Thaose Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or io
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
apgregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users faken nnthe

s of ' i : HUREAL OF INTERNAL REVENUE
basis of these consolidated financial statements IREAL OF INTERNAL REN
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As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s intemnal control.

*» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

» Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

»  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scape
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit,

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards. SBUREAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE
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LARGE TAXPAYERS ASSISTANCE DIYISION

Date| PR 1128 %

RECEIVED
KARL AARON D. GACUTAN

I

A mamber firm o Emst £ Young Gabal Limited




o

_-EiEr
PRt R
_’_H,,_,.F

SGV

Buiiding a better
working worid

-6-

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing s0 would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resuiting in this independent auditor’s report is Roel E. Lucas.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Roel E. Lucas

Partner

CPA Certificate No. 98200

SEC Accreditation No. 1079-AR-2 (Group A),
March 2, 2017, valid until March 1, 2020

Tax [dentification No. 191-180-015

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-95-2016,
January 3, 2017, valid until January 2, 2020

PTR No. 7332567, January 3, 2019, Makati City

March 21, 2019

BUREAL OF INTERNAL REVENUE
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DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
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(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net

Inventories

Prepayments and other current assets
Amounts due from related parfies
Income tax recoverable

Total Current Assets

Non-corréent Assets

Property and equipment, net
Contract acquisition costs, net
Other intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets

Total _Non-current Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

{Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses, other payables and
other current liabilities

Current portion of obligations under a finance lease

Amounts due to related parties
Income tax payable

Total Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities

Non-current portion of obligations under a finance lease

Long-term debt, net
Retirement liabilities

Other non-current liabilities
Defemred tax liability, net

Total Non-current Liabilities

Notes

5,24 and 25
6,24 and 25
7,24 and 25

16,24 and 25

24 and 25

12,24 and 25
19, 24 and 25
16, 24 and 25

19,24 and 25
20, 24 and 25
21

18

December 31,
2018 2017
P6,808,712 R6,332,581
867,591 549,765
1,476,364 1,328,372
310,132 327,620
413,542 385,331
139,564 163,670
38 -
10,015,943 9,087,3390
20,359,266 23,130,988
759,687 311,779
- 2,446
2,021,866 1,395,847
23,140,819 25,341,060
133,156,762 P34,428,399
P151,145 £136,758
8,985,142 3,908,468
1,824,898 1,661,799
186,880 100,291
- 179
11,148,065 7,807,495
13,358,923 13,271,953
- 7,459,634
74,065 69,199
296,133 284,867
180,786 119,433
113,909,907 £21,205,086
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND

SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS — continued
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 )
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

December 31,
Notes 2018 017

Equity
Capital stock i3 $5,687,271 B5,666,764
Additional paid-in capital 22,259,788 22,108,082
Share-hased compensation regserve 228,972 401,964
Equity reserve 2 and 13 (3,613,990) (3,613,990)
Accumulated deficit (16,463,251) (19,147,002)
Total Equity 8,098,790 5,415,818

£33,156,762 £34,428,399

Se¢ accompanying Notes 1o Consolideted Financial Statements.

AL OF INTERNAL
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND

SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 AND 2016

(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

NET OPERATING REVENUES
Casino

Rooms

Food and beverage

Entertainment, retail and other

Total Net Operating Revenues

QPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
Gaming 1ax and license fees

Inventories consumed

Employee benefit expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Other expenses

Payments to the Philippine Partics

Total Operating Costs and Expenses
OPERATING PROFIT

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income

Interest expenses. net of capitalized interest
Other finance fees

Foreign exchange gains, net

Loss on extinguishiment of debt

Total Non-operating Expenses, Net

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NET PROFIT (LOSS}
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Item that will not be reclassified 10 profit or loss

in subsequent peried

Remeasurement gain (loss) on defined benefit
obligations

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L.OSS)

Basic Earnings {Loss) Per Share
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Sec vecompanying Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements.

Notes

19 and 20

20

18

17
17

Year Ended December 31,
201 2017 2016
£26,241,009 230,463,494 R21,298,942
2,815,366 i,071,832 981,554
2,759,900 688,773 707.255
609,473 531,118 431,038
32,425,748 52,755,217 23,418.789
(9,222,131) {8,053,459) {5,408,428)
(978,549) (944,129) (819,730)
(4,135,820) (3.637.272) {3,449,766)
{4,015,503) {4,285,650) (4.388.885)
{5,931,992) {10,031,247) (6,457,010)
(3,211,857) (2.609.353) (1,642,750 _J
{27,495,852) {29,561,110) {22,166,000)
4,929,896 © 3,194,107 1,252,789
33,233 43,955 20,300
(2,413,092) (2,883.021) (2.940.000)
(17,968) {42,384) {47.832)
183,211 128.190 215.840
(12,144) (48,641) -
(2,206,760) (2,501.901) (2.751.692)
2,723,136 392,206 {1.498.903)
(61,136) (38,283) (82,390)
2,662,000 353.923 {1.381,209)
21,751 (6,852) {(3.210)
P2,683,751 B347.071 (R1,584.509)
$0.47 £0.06 (#0.28)
RU.47 £0.06 (R0.28)
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND

SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 AND 2016
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Profit (loss) before income tax

Adjustments for:
Unrealized foreign exchange gains, net
Interest income
Share-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expenses, net of capitalized interest
Provisions for doubtful debts
Provisions for input value-added tax (“VAT")
Retirement costs — defined benefit obligations
Other finance fees
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Net loss (gain) on disposals of property and

equipment

Amortization of prepaid rent

Operating profit before working capital
changes
Changes in assets and liabililies:
Increase in accounts receivable
Increase in other non-current assets
Decrease in accounts payable
Increase in prepayments and other current
assets
Increase in accrued cxpenscs, other payables
and other current liabilities
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to related
parties
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from
related parties
Increase in otlier non-current liabilities
Decrease (increase) in inventonies

Net cash generated from operations
Interest received
Income tax paid

Net cash provided by operating activities

Year Ended December 31,
Notes 2018 2017 2016
$2,723,136 P392206  (P1,498,903)
(204371) (192,277 (229,660)
(53,233) (43,955) (20,300)
27 (779 26,008 10,542
4,015,503 4,285,650 4,388,885
2,413,092 2,883,021 2,940,000
242,953 95,865 96,937
i1 216,370 142,051 271,938
14 and 21 26,617 20,703 14,817
17,968 42,384 47,832
20 12,144 48,641 -
15 11,610 185,569 (377,167)
8,957 7,284 7,285
9,429,967 7,893,150 5,652,206
(398,371) (34,604) (207,203)
(248,859) (226,864) (115,417)
(10,145) (49,087) (11,018)
(6,816) (50,830) (68,055)
3,062,433 720,103 473,323
91,858  (1.016,467) 595,776
23,160 (13,604) 24,204
18,306 45,212 56,723
17,488 (97,209) 38,408
11,979,021 7.169,800 6,438,947
36,502 40,600 13,189
- (19) (337)
12,015,523 £7.210,381 £6,451,799

REAU OF INTERNAL REVENUE
BULARGE TAXPAYERS SERVICE
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — continued

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017 AND 2016

{(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Deposits for acquisitions of property and _

equipment (R869,779) (B81,384) (B78,573)
Payments for acquisitions of property and

equipment (742,599) (611,236) (2,112,996)
Increase in restricied cash (317,826) (309,740) {197,500)
Payments for other non-current assets (83,056) - -
Proceeds from disposals of property and

equipment 769 6,016 1,155,284
Placement of bank deposits with original

maturities over three months - (2,644,743) - O
Withdrawals of bank deposits with original

maturities over {hree months - 2,644,743 -
Net cash used in investing activities (2,012,491 (996,344) (1,233,785)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Principal payments on long-term debt (7,500,000) (7,500,000) -
Repayments of obligations under a finance lease (1,782,631) (1,644,802) (1,623,162)
Interest paid (450,747) {1,132,813) (937,500)
Other finance fees paid (23,374) {57,797 {47,832)
Proceeds [rom exercise of share options - 8,636 -
Payments for issuance of capital stock - - {12,763)
Net cash used in financing activities (9,756,752)  (10,326,776) (2,621,257)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ON

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 229,851 93,906 294,428 O
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 476,131 (4,018,833) 2,891,185
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ,

BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,332,581 10,351,414 7,460,229
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF YEAR £6,808,712 26,332,581 210,351,414

See nceompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statenrents.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

1.

Organization and Business

{(a) Corporate Information

Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation (herein referred to as “MRP™ or the
“Parent Company”} is incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine Securities
and Exchange Comunission (the “SEC™). The shares of stock of the Parent Company were publicly
traded on The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “PSE™ until its trading suspension on
December 10, 2018, afier the completion of the cross transaction of the Tendered Shares at the PSE
as described below. As a result of the transaction, the public float of MRP fell below the 10%
minimum public ownership requirement of the Amended PSE Rules on Minimum Public
Ownership.

On September 10, 2018, MRP filed an announcement with the PSE regarding (i) the proposed
voluntary delisting of MRP from the PSE as approved by the board of directors; and (ii) the
intention of MCO (Philippines) Investments Limited (“MCO Investmenis™ or the “Bidder™), the
controlling shareholder of MRP, to conduct a voluntary tender offer to acquire up to 1,543,421,147
outstanding common shares of MRP held by the public and other MRP shareholders at the offer
price of 87.25 per MRP share for the purpose of a voluntary delisting of MRP. On September 14,
2018, MRP filed with the PSE (i) a tender offer repott, as amended from time to time, thal was
filed with the SEC containing further defails of the terms of the tender offer to acquire up to
1,569,786,768 outstanding common shares of MRP (the “Tender Offer™); and (ii) a petition for
voluntary delisting of MRP from the PSE, as amended from time to time, (the “Voluntary
Delisting™) that the PSE shall only consider and approve if the Bidder acquires at least 95% of the
outstanding commeon shares of MRP pursuant to the PSE Rules on Delisting. The Tender Offer
was originally scheduled to commence on October 3, 2018, was deferred to October 22, 2018 and
then further deferred to October 31, 2018. On October 19, 2018, MRP filed an announcement with
the PSE in relation to the proposal from MCQO Investments to change the purpose for the Tender
Offer from voluntary delisting of MRP to increasing the Bidder’s shareholding interest in MRP
and such change led to the decision to withdraw the petition for Voluntary Delisting by MRP. The
Tender Offer period expired on November 29, 2018 and 1,338,477,668 outstanding comnion
shares of MRP were tendered (the “Tendered Shares™) and acquired by MCO Investments at the
offer price of 7.25 per MRP share for a total amount of 9,703,963 and crossed at the PSE on
December 10, 2018,

The Parent Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group™) is a
developer, owner and operator of casino gaming and entertainment resort facilities in the
Philippines. The Group currently operates and manages City of Dreams Manila, a casino, hotel,
retail and entertainment integrated resort in the Entertainment City complex in Manila.

The Parent Company’s principal place of business is the Philippines and its registered office
address is Asean Avenue cor. Roxas Boulevard, Brgy. Tambo, Paraiiaque City 1701.

AU OF INTERMAL REVENUE
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCJAL STATEMENTS — continued
{(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

L.

Organization and Business — continned

(a)

{b)

(c}

Corporate Information — continued

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company’s ultimate holding company is Melco
International Development Limited (“Meico International™), a company incorporated and listed in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China (“Hong Kong™),
and Melco Resorts & Entertainment Limited (“Melco™), a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with its American depositary shares listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market in the
United States of Aunerica, is the then ultimate holding company and became one of the Parent
Company’s intermediate holding companies afier the restructuring iransactions of Melco in May
2016.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the immediate holding company of the Parent Company is
MCO Investments, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue in
accordance with a resolution by the board of directors on March 21, 2019.

Subsidiaries of MRP

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, MRP’s wholly-owned subsidiaries included MPHIL Holdings
No. 1 Corporation (“MPHIL Holdings No. 17}, MPHIL Holdings No. 2 Corporation (“MPHIL
Holdings No, 27) and Melco Resorts Leisure (PHP) Corporation (“Melco Resorts Leisure™)
{collectively referred 10 as *“MPHIL Holdings Group™). MPHIL Holdings No. 1, MPHIL Holdings
No. 2 and Melco Resorts Leisure, all of which were incorporated in the Philippines. The primary
purpose of both MPHIL Holdings No. 1 and MPHIL Holdings No. 2 is investment holding and the
primary purpose of Melco Resorts Leisure is to develop and operate tourist facilities, including
hotel casino entertainment complexes with hotel, retail and amusement areas and themed
development componenis and to engage in casino gaming activities.

Regular License

On April 29, 2015, the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (“PAGCOR™) issued a
regular casino gaming license, as amended (the “Regular License™) in replacement of a provisional
license granted by PAGCOR as of March 13, 2013, to the co-licensees (the “Licensees™) namely,
MPHIL Holdings Group, SM Investments Corporation (*SMIC™), Belle Corporation {(“Belle™) and
PremiumLeisure and Amusement, Inc. (“PLAI”) (SMIC, Belle and PLAI are collectively referred
to as the “Philippine Parties™) for the establishment and operation of City of Dreams Manila, with
Melco Resorts Leisure, a co-licensee, as the “special purpose entity” to operate the casino business
and as representative for itself and on behalf of the other co-licensees in dealings with PAGCOR.
The Regular License has the same terms and conditions as the provisional license and is valid until
July 11, 2033.

O

O
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

2. Basis of Preparation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with the Philippine
Financial Reporting Standards (“PFRS”). PFRSs include all PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards
(“PAS™) and Philippine Interpretations based on equivalent interpretations from International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards
Council (“FRSC”). The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management 10 exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity, or areas where assumplions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial

statements are disclosed ip Note 4.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets. The
consolidated f{inancial statements are presented in Philippine peso, the functional and presentation
currency of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. All values are rounded off to the nearest

thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Although the Group had net current liabilities of 81,132,122 as of December 31, 2018 (December 31,
2017 Net current assets of P 1,279,844), the Group has the Shareholder Loan Facility of
US$340,000,000 (as disclosed in Note 20(b)) and the Credit Facility of £2,350,000 {as disclosed in

Note 20(c)) which remain available for drawdown to meet its financial obligations.

In the opinion of the directors, in light of the above, the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and remain as a going concern in the foreseeable fulure. Accordingly, the
directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going

concern basis.

On March 20, 2013, MRP completed the acquisition of a 100% ownership interest in MPHIL Holdings
Group with a net assets value of B2,609,589 from MCO Investments for a consideration of 87,198,590.
Because MRP did not meet the definition of a business, MPHIL Holdings Group was deemed to be the
accounting acquirer for accounting purposes. The acquisition was accounted for similar to a reverse
acquisition following guidance provided by the PFRS. In a reverse acquisition, the legal parent, MRP
is identified as the acquiree for accounting purposes based on the substance of the transaction, the legal
subsidiary, MPHIL Holdings Group is adjudged 10 be the entity that gained control over the legal
parent.  Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of MRP have been prepared as a
continuation of the financial statements of MPHIL Holdings Group. MPHIL Holdings Group has
accounted for the acquisition of MRP on December 19, 2012 which was the date when Melco, through
its indirect subsidiaries including MCO Investments and MPHIL Corporation (“MPHIL”), acquired

control of MRP,

Reverse acquisition applies only to the consolidated financial statements of MRP. The Paremt
Company financial statements continue to represent MRP as a standalone entity as of December 31,

2018 and 2017.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and amended PFRSs as of January 1, 2018 and the adoption
of these new and amended PFRSs had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements,
except for the adoption of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and PFRS 9, Financial
Instruments as explained below.,

* Amendmnents to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment, Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Amendments to PERS 4, Insurance Contracts, applying PFRS 9 with PFRS 4

PFRS 9

PFRS 15 . . O
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014 — 2016 Cyele) ~ Amendments to PAS 28, Measuring an
Associate or Joint Venture at Fair Value

Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property, Transfers of Investment Property

»  Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

*  PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

PFRS 15 and its amendments replace PAS 11, Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts
with customers. PFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that applies to revenue arising from
contracts with customers (“New Revenue Standard”). Under the New Revenue Standard, revenues
are recognized at amounts that reflect the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to customers. The principles in the New Revenue
Standard provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognizing revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualilative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about perfonnance obligations, changes in contract O
asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. As a result
of ihe application of the New Revenue Standard, the Group has changed the accounting policy
with respect to revemue recognition as disclosed below.

On January 1, 2018, the Group adopted the New Revenue Standard using the modified
retrospective method of adoption to those contracts not yet completed as of January 1, 2018.
Amounts for the period beginning on or after Janmary 1, 2018 are presented under the New
Revenue Standard, while prior period amounts are not adjusted and continue to be reported in
accordance with previous basis. The major changes as a result of the adoption of the New
Revenue Standard are as follows:

* Under the New Revenue Standard, the complimentary goods and services are netted against
casino revenues in primarily all cases rather than netted against revenues relaied to the
respective goods or services. The complimentary goods and services are measured based on
standalone selling prices. These changes primarily result in a decrease in casino revenues and
an increase in the revenues related to the respective goods or services.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures — continued
» PFRS IS, Revenue from Contracts with Customers — continued

* A portion of commissions paid or payable to gaming promoters, representing the estimated
incentives that were returned to customers, was previously reported as reductions in casino
revenue, with the balance of commissions expeuse reflected as casino expense. Under the
New Revenue Standard, ali comnissions paid or payable to gaming promoters are reflected as
reductions in casino revenue. This change primarily results in a decrease in casino expense
and a corresponding decrease in casino revenue.

The amounts of affected financial statement line items in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the current year before and after the adoption of the New Revenue
Standard are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Balances
under New Balances Effect of
Revenue under Change
Standard Previous Higher
{As reported) Basis (Lower}
Net Operating Revenues
Casino $26,241,009 $£34,829,741  (#8,588,732)
Rooms 2,815,366 1,136,113 1,679,253
Food and beverage 2,759,900 688,378 2,071,522
Entertainment, retail and other 609,473 481,340 128,133
Total Net Operating Revenues £32,425,748 B37,135,572 (P4,709,824)
Operating Costs and Expenses
Other expenses (B5,931,992) (#10,041,816) P$4,709,824

There is no impact on the net profit, and basic and diluted éamings per share for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

The adoption of the New Revenue Standard had no impact on other comprehensive income or on
the Group's operating, investing and financing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018
or on the Group’s financial position as of December 31, 2018.

= PFRS 9, Fingncial Iustruments
PFRS 9 replaces PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measuremeni, for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, bringing fogether all three aspects of the accounting
for financial instruments: classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies -- continued

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures — continued
PERS 9, Financial Instruments — continued

The Group has adopted PFRS 9 from January 1, 2018 and did not restate the comparative
information in accordance with the transitional provisions in PFRS 9 and continues to be reported
under PAS 39. The impacts from adopting PFRS 9 relate to the classification and measureinent
and the impairment requirements are summarized as follows:

Classification and Measurement

Under PFRS 9, debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, O
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The classification is based on

two criteria: the Group’s business model for managing the assets; and whether the instruments’
contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (*SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The assessment of the Group’s business model was made at the date of initial application, January
1, 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt instrumcnts are SPPI was
based on the facts and circumstances at the initial recognition of the assets.

Cash and cash equivalents, resiricled cash, accounts receivable, deposits and receivables (including
security deposits) included under prepayments and other current assets and other non-current assets
and amounts due from related parties previously classified as loans and receivables are held to
collect contrédctual cash flows and give rise 1o cash flows representing SPPI. These are now
classified and measured as financial assets at amortized cost.

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. There are O

no changes in classifications and measurements of the Group’s financial liabilities at amortized
cost. '

Upon the adoption of PFRS 9, the Group had the following required or ¢lected reclassifications on
the consolidated balancc sheet:

January 1. 2018

PAS 39 PFRS 9
Measurement Measurement
Category Category
Loans and Amortized
Receivables Cost
Cash and cash equivalents £5,332,581 B6,332,581
Restricted cash 549,765 549,765
Accounts receivable, net ' 1,328,372 1,328,372
Deposits and receivables, net 303,978 303,973
Amounts due from related parties 163,670 163,670

P§,678.366 P8 678,366
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued:

Changcs in Accounting Policies and Disclosures — continued
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments ~ continued

Impairment of Financial Assets

PFRS 9 requires an impairment of financial assets based on an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under PAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses (“ECLs™) and changes in those ECLs at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Upon adoption of PFRS 9,
the Group has applied the simplified approach to recognize lifetime ECLs for its accounts
receivable. The Group has determmined that the adoption of PFRS 9 did not have a significant
impact on the provision for impairment on its accounts receivable and hence did not result in an
adjustment of the opening accumulated deficits af January I, 2018.

Standards Issued Bul Not Yet Effective

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the consolidated financial
statements which are relevant to the Group are listed below. This listing of standards and
interpretations issued are those thal the Group reasonably expects to have an impact on disclosures,
financial position or performance when adopted at a future date. The Group intends to adopt these
standards when they become effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the
adoption of these new and amended PASs, PFRSs and the Philippine Interpretation to have significant
impacts on the Group®s financial position or performance,

* Amendments to PERS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensatian

The amendments to PFRS 9 allow debt instruments with negative compensation prepayment
features to be measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. An
entity shall adopt these amendments for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with
early adoption permitted.

* PFRS 16, Leases

PERS 16, replaces PAS 17, Leases and the related interpretations when it became effective. PFRS
16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet mode] similar to the
accounting for finance leases under PAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of “low-value™ assets (e.g, personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e.
leases with a lease tenn of 12 months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e. the lease liability) and an asset representing the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease fenm (i.e. the right of use asset). The right of use
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately recognize the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right of use asset.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective ~ continued
»  PFRS 16, Leases — continued

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events
(e.g. a change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or raie used io determine those payments). Lessees will generally recognize the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjusiment to the right of use assel.

Lessor accounting under PFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under
PAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
PAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. PFRS 16 also O
requires lessees and lessors to make inore extensive disclosures than under PAS 17.

The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, Early
adoption is permitied. A lessee can choose 1o adopt the standard using either a full rerospective or
a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.

The Group will adopt PFRS 16 from January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective method
without restating comparative information. In addition, the Group plans to applty PFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as Jeases under PAS 17 and to measure the right of use
asset at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by any prepaid or accrued lease payments,
at the date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to use the exemptions allowed by
the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of initial
application. While the Group is currently assessing the quantitative impact PFRS 16 will have on
its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, the Group expects the most significant
changes will be related to the recognition of right of use assets and lease liabilities for operating

leases on the Group’s consolidated balance sheet, with no material impact 10 net income or cash O
flows. '

= Amendments to PAS 19, Empioyee Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments to PAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curlailment or
settlement occurs during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan
amendment, ¢urtailment or setilement occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is
required to:

* determine the current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined
benefit lability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets after
that event; and

» determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curlailment or
settlement using the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the
plan and the plan assets after that event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net
defined benefit liability (asset).
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective — continued

Amendments to PAS 19, Employec Benefits, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement —
continued

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss
on setllement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. An entity then determines the effect of the
asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement. Any change in that effect,
excluding amounts included in the net interest, is recognized in other comprehensive income. The
amendments apply to plan ainendments, curtailments, or settlements for annual periods beginning
on or afier January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. These amendments will apply only to
any future plan amendments, curtailments, or seitlements of the Group.

Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entily applies PFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is not applied but that, in substance, form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture (long-term interests). This clarification is relevant
because it unplies that the ECL model in PFRS 9 applies to such long-term interests.

The amendments also clarified that, in applying PFRS 9, an entity does not take account of any
losses of associates or joint ventures, or any impairment iosses on the net investment recognized as
adjustments to the net investment in the associates or joint ventures that arise from applying PAS
28. The amendments should be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or afier
January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted.

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatitents

The interpretation addresses accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of PAS 12, lncome Taxes, and does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of PAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatinents.

The interpretation specifically addresses the following: -

* whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

* the assumptions an enlity makes about the examination of (ax treatmments by taxation
authorities

* how an entity deterinines taxable profits (tax losses), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused fax
credits and tax rates

= how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

An entity must determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatinent separately or together
with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The approach that better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty shonld be followed. This interpretation is effective for annua} periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permiited.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — confinued

Standards Issned But Not Yet Effective — continued
*  Annual Improvements toc PFRSs (2015 — 2017 Cycle)

* Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations, and PFRS 11, Joimt Arrangements,
Previously Held Interest in a Joint Operation

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint
operation, it applies the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including
remeasuring previously held interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair
value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in the joint
operation.

A parly that participales in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation might obtain
joint contro} of the joint operation in which the activity of {he joint operation constitules a
business as defined in PFRS 3. The amendments clarify that the previously held interesi(s in
that joint operation are not remeasured.

An entity applies those amendments 10 business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or afier annual periods beginning on or afier January 1, 2019 and to transactions in which it
obtains joint control on or afler annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with
early adoption permitted.

=  Amendments to PAS 12, lncome Tax Consequences of Paynments on Financial Instrumients
Classified as Equity

The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends are linked more
directly to past transactions or evenls that generated distributable profits than o distributions to O
owners. Therefore, an entity recognizes the income tax consequences of dividends in profit or
loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity originally recognized
those past transactions or events.

An entity applies those amendments for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019,
with early adoption permitted.

* Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization

The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing
originally made to develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare that asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

An entity applies those amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity
applies those amendments for annual pericds beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early
adoption permitted,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - centinued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective —~ conlinued

Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business

The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify the minimum réquirements to be a business, remove the
assessment of a market pariicipant’s abilily to replace missing elements, and narrow the definition
of outputs. The amendments also add guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and add illustrative examples. An optional fair value concentration test is introduced
which permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual periods beginning on or
afier January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted.

Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material

The amendments refine the definition of material in PAS 1 and align the definitions used across
PFRSs and other pronouncements. They are intended to improve the understanding of the existing
requirements rather than to significantly impact an entity’s materality judgemenis. An entity
applies those amendments prospectively for annual periods beginning on or afier January 1, 2020,
with early adoption permitted.

PERS 17, Insurance Contracits

PFRS 17 is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition
and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, PFRS 17 will replace PFRS 4,
Insurance Contracts. This new standard on insurance coniracts applies lo all types of insurance
contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities
that issue them, as well as to cerfain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary
participation features. A few scope exceptions will apply.

The overall objective of PFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is
more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in PFRS 4, which are
largely based on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, PFRS 17 provides a
comprehensive model for insurance contracts, covering all relevant accounting aspects. The core
of PFRS 17 is the general inodel, supplemented by:

* a specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)
= asimplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

PFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or afier January 1, 2021, with comparative
figures required. Early adoption is permitted.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective — continued
* Amendments to PFRS 10, Consofidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Ventiure

The amendments address the conflict between FFRS 10 and PAS 28 in dealing with the loss of
control of a subsidiary that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments
clarify that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transfer to an associate or joint venture involves

a business as defined in PFRS 3. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or coniribution of assets

that does not constituie a business, however, is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investor
interests in the associate or joint venture, The SEC and FRSC have deferred the effectivity of the O
amendments. :

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents cousist of cash on hand and cash in banks including short-tenn deposits
with 4 maturity of three months or less, which are unrestricted as 10 withdrawal and use.

Restricied Cash
Restricted cash represents cash deposited into bank accounis which are resiricled as to withdrawal and
use,

Financial Asseis {policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018)

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of
accounts receivable that do not contain a significamt financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at ils fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under PFRS 15 since Jannary 1,
2018.

In order for a financial asset 10 be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal amouni
cutstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers 1o how it manages its financial assels
in order to gencrate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Financial Assets {policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January }. 2018) — continued

Subsequent Measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

* {inancial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments);

» financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments);

= financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments);
and

= financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost (Debt Instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

= the financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

» the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPP]
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amorlized cost arc subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method -
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalenis (see Note 5),
restricted cash (see Note ), accounts receivable (sec Note 7), deposits and receivables (including
security deposits) included under prepaymenis and other current assets and other non-current assets
(sce Note 11) and amounts due from related parties (see Note 16).

The Group has no financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments), financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (cquity
instruments) and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as of December 31, 2018,

Financia} Assets (policies under PAS 39 applicable before January 1, 2018)

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets were classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. When
financial assets were recognized initially, they were measured at fair value plus transactions that were
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at
fair value through profit or loss. The classifications depended on the purpose for which the
instruments were acquired or liabilities incurred and whether they were quoted in an aclive market.
Management determined the classifications at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate,
re-evaluated these classifications at every balance sheet date.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Financial Assets (policies under PAS 39 applicable before January 1, 201 8} ~ continued
Subsequen! Measurement
The subsequent measurement of financijal assets depends on their classification as follows:

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
loans and receivables;

held-to-maturity investments; and
available-for-sale financial investments.

Lodans and Receivables

Loans and receivables were non-derivative financial assets with fixed .or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that were nol quoied in an active market. After inilial measurement, loans and
receivables were subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any
allowance for impairmeni. Amoriized cost was calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and included fees and costs {hat were an integral part of the effective interest.
Gains and losses were recognized in the consolidaled statemenis of comprehensive income when the
loans and receivables were derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.
Loans and receivables were included in cumrent assets if maturily was within 12 months from the
balance sheet date, otherwise, these were classified as non-current assets.

This category included cash and cash equivalents (see Note 5), restricted cash (see Note 6), accounts
receivable (see Note 7), deposits and receivables (including security deposits) included under
prepayments and other current assets and other non-current assets (see Note 11) and amounis due from
relaled parlies (see Note 16). The carrying values and fair values of loans and receivables are disclosed
in Note 25.

The Group had no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and O
available-for-sale financial assets as of December 31, 2017.

Derecognition of Financial Assets {policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1. 2018 and PAS 39
applicable before January 1. 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a parl of a financial assel or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognized when:

= the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

= the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through™ arrangement; or

* the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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3. Summary of Significant Aceounting Policies — continued

Derecognition of Financial Assets (policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1. 2018 and PAS 39
applicable before Janvary 1. 2018) - continued

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
fransferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.
Continuing invotvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impaimment of Financial Assets (policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018)

The Group recognizes an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the confract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subject to impairment under the general approach for
measurement of ECLs except for accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

General Approach

ECL are rccognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a sigaificant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that resuli from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-inonth ECL). TFor those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrunient as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.
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3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Impaimment of Financial Assets (policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018) — continued
The Group considers a financial asset 10 be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written-off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. At each reporting date, the Group
defines a financial assetl as credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria
indicating the debtor is in significant financial difficulty:

» significant financial difficalty of the debior;

= abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

»  the Group, for economic or coniractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the debtor a concession that the Group would not otherwise consider;

* jtis becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankrupicy or other financial reorganization; or

*  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Where ECL provisions modelled on a collective basis or caler for cases where evidence al the
individua] instrument level may not be available, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and days past due.

Simplified Approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in caleulating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. An impairment analysis is performed using a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions forecasts and forward-looking information that {s available without undue cost or effort.
For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing component, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.

Impairment of Financial Assets {applicable before January 1, 2018)

The Group assessed at each balance sheet date whether there was any objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assels was deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there was objective evidence of impairment as a resalt
of one or more events that had occurred after the initial recognition of the asset {an incurred “loss
event”™) and that loss event had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that could be reliably estimated. Objective evidence of impairment might
include indications that the debtors or a group of deblors was experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they would
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicated that there was a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or économic
conditions that correlated with defaults.

O



17

MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — continued
(In thiousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Impairment of Financial Assets (applicable before January 1. 2018) — continued

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost

If there was objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized
cost had been incurred, the amount of the loss was measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amouni and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account. The amount of loss shall be charged to current operations.
Interest income continued to be acerued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective
interest rate of the asset. Loans and receivables together with the assocjated allowance were written-
off al each balance sheet date when there was no realistic prospect of fufure recovery and all collateral
had been realized or had been transferred to the Group. The Group first assessed whether an. objective
evidence of impairment existed individually for financial assets that were individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that were not individually significant. If it was determined that no
objective evidence of impairment existed for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, the asset was included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and that group of financial assets was collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that
were individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss was or continued to be
recognized were net included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreased and the decrease could be
related objectively to an event occwring after the impairment was recognized, the previously
recognized impairment loss was reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss was
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset did not exceed its amortized cost a( the reversal date.

Financial Liabilities (policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018)

Initial Recognition and Measurement .

Financial liabilities are classified, at initia]l recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequient Measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and Borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized
cost, using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the conselidated
stalements of comprehensive incomme when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
effective interest rate amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is
inclnded as interest expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Financial Liabilities (policies under PFRS 9 applicable from January 1, 2018} — continued

Loans and Borrowings and Payables

The Group’s loans and borrowings and payables includes accounts payable, accrucd expenses, other
payables and other current liabilities (see Note 12), obligations under a finance lease (see Note 19),
amounts due to related pariies (see Note 16), long-term debt (see Note 20) and other non-current
liabilities.

The Group has no financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or derivatives designated as
hedging instraments in an effective hedge as of December 31, 2018.

Financial Liabilities (policies under PAS 39 applicable before January 1, 2018) O

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial liabilities were classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss or other financial liabilities. The classifications depended on the purpose for which the
liabilities incurred and whether they were quoted in an active markei. Managememt detertnined the
classifications at initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluated these
classifications at every balance sheef date.

Subsequent Measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings were subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses were recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income when the liabililies were derecognized, as well as
through the amortization process. Other financial liabilities were included in current liabilities if
maturity was within 12 months from the balance sheet date, otherwise, these were classified as non-
current liabilities.

Other Financial Liabilities O
This category pertained 1o {inancial liabililies that were not held for irading or not designated as at fair
value throngh profit or loss upon the inception of the Hability. These included liabilities arising from
operations and loans and bortowings.

This category included accounts payable, accrued expenscs, other payables and other current liabilities
(see Note 12}, obligations under a finance lease (see Note 19), amounts due to related parties (sec Note
16), long-term debt (see Note 20) and other non-current liabilities. The carrying values and fair values
of other financial liabilities are disclosed im Note 25.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities {policies under PFRS 9 a
PAS 38 applicable before January 1. 2018)

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or
expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

1, 2018 and
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3. Summary of Siguificant Accounting Policies — continued

Determination of Fair Values of Financial Assects and Liabilities (policies under PFRS 9 applicable
from January 1. 2018 and PAS 39 applicable before Januvary 1. 2018)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaetion to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either i) in
the principal market for the asset or lability; or ii) in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest. The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservabie inputs.

Offsetting of Financial Instruments (policies under PFRS 9 applieable from January 1. 2018 and PAS
39 applicable before January 1, 2018

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the nct amount is reporied in the consolidated balance
sheets if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and
there is an intention to setfle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simulianeously.

Inventories

Inventories consist of retail merchandise, food and beverage items and certain operating supplies,
which are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value., Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-
out, weighted average and specific identification methods. Write-downs of potentially obsolete or
slow-moving inventories are recorded based on management’s specific analysis of inventory items.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any. The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs in
bringing the asset o its working condition and location for its intended use.

Property and equipment are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis to write-off their costs
over the following estimated useful lives:

Building 25 years or over the term of the [ease agreement,
whichever is shorter

Leasechold improvements 5 1o 10 years or over the lease term, whichever is shorter

Fumiture, fixtures and equipment 210 7 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Plant and gaming machinery 3to 5 years

An asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of an asset {calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ~ continued
Property and Equipment — continued

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation and amortization methods of the property and equipment
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separale asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Constlruction in progress represents property and equipment under construction and is stated at cost, O
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. This includes the direct cost of purchase, construction and
capitalized borrowing costs during the period of construction. Construction in progress are not
depreciaied and are reclassified to the appropriate category of property and equipment when completed

and rcady for use. :

Capitalization of Interest

Interest, includiug amortization of deferred financing costs, incurred on borrowing of funds used to
construct an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use are
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets. The capitalization of interest ceases once a
project is substantially completed or development activity is suspended for more than a brief period.

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 20186, total interest expenses incurred amounted to
B2,413,092, 2,885,456 and P 2,948,823, of which nil, 22,435 and P 8,823 were capitalized,
respectively.

Intangible Assets O
Contract Acquisition Cosis

Certain costs incurred by Melco Resorts Leisure 10 obtain various agreements in its capacity as the sole

and exclusive operator and manager of City of Dreams Manila have been capitalized in contract
acquisition costs. The contract acquisition costs are carried at costs less any accumulated amortization

and accumuiated impairment losses. The contract acquisition costs are amorlized over the term of the
Operating Agreement (as disclosed in Note 22(b)) and tested for impairment if there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following
initial recognition, other intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. An intangible asset is amortized over the shorter of the contractual
terms and its estimated useful life unless its life is detenmined to be indefinite in which case it is not
amortized. The Group’s finite-life other intangible assets are tested for impairment if there is an
indication that such intangible assets may be impaired.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognitions of intangible assets are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the assets and are recognized in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income when the assets are derecognized.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Linpairment of Non-financial Assets

The carrying values of non-financial assets, including property and equipment, contract acquisition
costs and other intangible assets, are reviewed for impairments whenever events or changes in
circuinstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indications exist
and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets or cash-generating
units are written-down to their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The fair value is the amount obtainable from the sale of
an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present values using pretax discount rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assets.
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, Lhe recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses, if any, are
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognized impairment Josses, if any, may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used 10 determine an asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased (o
its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount which would have
been determined, net of depreciation and amnortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income. After such a reversal, the depreciation and amortization charges are adjusted in future periods
to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematie basis over its
remaining useful life.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a pasl event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the cbligation. If the
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the
provision due to the passage of timie is recognized as an interest expense.

Capital Stock
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Incremental costs incurred that are directly

attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net of tax.
Proceeds and/or fair values of considerations reeceived in excess of par value, if any, are recognized as
additional paid-in capital.

Eguity Reserve
Equity reserve account perfains {o the effect of the reverse acquisition when MRP acquired MPHIL
Holdings Group from MCO Investments in 2013 as diseussed in Note 2 under basis of preparation.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Accumulated Deficit

The accumulated deficit represents the Group’s cumulative net losses. Such deficit may also include
the effects of changes in any accounting policies as may be required by standard transitional provisions
or amendments to the standards.

Revenue Recognition {applicable from January 1. 2018)
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
On January 1, 2018, the Group adopted PFRS 15, using the modified retrospective method.

The Group’s revenmues from contracts with customers consist of casino wagers, sales of roomns, foodO
and beverage, entertainment, retail and other goods and services.

(a) Casino Revenues

Gross casino rcvemies are measured by the aggregate net difference between paming wins and
losses. The Group accounts for its casino wagering transactions on a portfolio basis versus an
individual basis as all wagers have similar characteristics. Commissions paid to gaming promoters
and cash discounts and other cash incentives eamed by customers are recorded as reductions of
casino revenues. In addition to the wagers, casino transactions typically include perfornance
obligations related to complimentary goods or services provided to incentivize future gaming or in
exchange for incentives or points earned under the Group®s non-discretionary incentives programs
{including loyally programs).

For casino transactions that include complimentary goods or services provided by the Group to
incentivize future gaming, the Group allocates the standalone selling price of eacl; good or service

to the appropriate revenue type based on the good or service provided. Complimentary goods or
services that are provided under the Group’s control and discretion and supplied by third partiesO
are recorded as operating expenses.

The Group operates different non-discretionary incentives programs which include loyalty
programs (the “Loyalty Programs™) to encourage repeal business mainly from loyal slot machine
customers and table games patrons. Customers earn points primarily based on gaming activity and
such points can be redeemed for free play and other free goods and services. For casino
transactions that include points earned under the Loyalty Programs, the Group defers a portion of
the revenue by recording the estimated standalone selling prices of the earned points that are
expected to be redeemed as a liability. Upon redeinpiion of the points for Group-owned goods or
services, the standalone selling price of each good or service is allocated 10 the appropriate revenue
type based on the good or service provided. Upon the redemption of the points with third parties,
the redemption amount is deducted from the liability and paid directly to the third party.

After allocating amounts to the complimentary goods or services provided and to the points earned
under the Loyalty Programs, the residual amount is recorded as casino revenue when the wagers
are settled.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Revenue Recognition (applicable from J anua;'g. 1, 2018} — continued

Revenue fiom Contracts with Customers — continued
(b) Rooms, Food and Beverage, Entertaimment, Retail and Other Revenues

The transaction prices of rooms, food and beverage, entertainment, retail and other goods and
services are the net amounts collected from customers for such goods and services and are
recorded as revenues when the goods are provided, services are performed or events are held.
Service taxes and other applicable taxes collected by the Group are excluded from revenues.
Advance deposits on rooms and advance tickets sales are recorded as customer deposits until
services are provided to the customers. Revenues from coniracts with multiple goods or services
provided by the Group are allocated 1o each good or services based on its relative standajone
selling price.

(c) Management Fee Income

Revenue from the provision of management services is recognized when the services are provided
and are included in entertainment, retail and other revenues.

fd) Rental Income
Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.
Revenue firom Other Sources
Interest Inconie
Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimaied future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial

instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

The major changes from the previous basis, as a result of the adoption of the New Revenue Standard
are summarized above under Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures in Note 3.

Revenue Recoenition (applicable before January 1. 2013)
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating 1o the
sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimation on historical results taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — conlinued

Revenue Recognition {applicable before January 1. 2018) — continued
The specific recognition criteria set oul below must also be met before revenue is recognized.

Casino Revenues

Casino revenues are measured by the aggregate net difference beiween gaming wins and losses, with
liabilities recognized for funds deposited by customers before gaming play oceurs and for chips in the
customers” possession. Commissions rebated by gaming promoters to customers related to gaming
play are recorded as reductions of gross casino revcnues.

Rooms, Food and Beverage, Entertainment, Refail and Other Revenues O
Rooms, food and beverage, enterlainment, retail and other revenues are recognized when services are
performed or the retail goods are sold. Advance deposits mainly on rooms are recorded as customer
deposits until services are provided to the customer. Minimum operating fees, adjusted for contractual
base fees and operating fee escalations, are included in entertainment, retail and other revenues and are
recognized over the terms of the related agreements on a straight-line basis.

Revenues are recognized net of certain sales incentives which are required to be recorded as reductions
of revenne. Consequently, the Group’s casino revenues are reduced by discounts, commissions and
poinis earued in customer loyalty programs.

The retail values of rooms, food and beverage, entertaimment, retail and other services furnished to
guests without charge are excluded from total net operating revenues in the accompanying
consolidated statemnents of comprehensive income. The amounts of such promotional allowances
excluded from total net operating revenues for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as

follows:
Year Ended December 31, O
2017 2016
Rooms 1,550,857 £1,405,344
Food and beverage 1,893,010 1,386,418
Entertainment, retail and other : 138,189 05,882

P3,582,056  B2,887,644

Management Fee Income
Revenue from the provision of management services is recognized when the services are provided and
are included in entertainment, reiail and other revenues.

Interest Income

Interest income is recognized con a time proportionate basis that reflects as the effective yield on the
asset.
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Point-loyalty Programs (applicable before January 1. 2018)

The Group operaies loyalty programs (o encourage repeat business mainly from loyal slot machine
customers and fable games patrons. Members eam points primarily based on gaming activities and
such points can be redeemed for free play and other free goods and services. The Group recognizes the
award points as a separately identifiable component of the initial sale transaction by allocating the fair
value of the consideration received between the award points and the other components of the sale such
that the award points are initially recognized as deferred income at their fair value. Revenue from the
award points is recognized when the points are redeemed. The amount of revenue is based on the
number of points redeemed relative to the total number expected 1o be redeemed.

Contract Liabilities (applicable from January 1, 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration {or an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. I a customer
pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability
is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

In providing goods and services to its customers, there may be a timing difference between cash
receipls from customers and recognition of revenues, resuiting in a contract or contract-related liability.

The Group primarily has thrce types of liabilities related to contracts with customers: (1) outstanding
gaming chips and tokens, which represent the amounts owed in exchange for gaming chips held by a
customer; (2) loyalty program habilities, which represent the deferred allocation of revenues relating to
incentive earned from the Loyalty Programs; and (3) advance customer deposits and ticket sales, which
represent casino front money deposits that are funds deposited by customers before gaming play occurs
and advance payments on goods and services yet 10 be provided such as advance ticket sales and
deposils on rooms and convention space. These liabilities are generally expected to be recognized as
revenues within one year of being purchased, earned, or deposited and are recorded as accrued
expenses, other payables and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Decreases in
these balances generally represent decreases in unredeemed incentives relating to the Loyalty Programs
and increases in the balances represent additional chips and fokens held by customers and additional
deposits made by customers.

The following table summarizes the activities related t¢ contract and contract-related liabilities:

December 31, January 1, Increase
2018 2018 (Decrease)
QOutstanding gaming chips and fokens P4,198,666  $£2,100,157  $£2,098,509
Loyalty program liabilities 201,137 213,426 {12,289)
Advance customer deposits and ticket sales 842,994 S5B2,889 260,105

P5,242,797  B2,896,472  $2,346,325
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Expenses Recognition
Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or

decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating
to distributions to equity participants. Expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income in the year these are incurred.

Deferred Financing Costs

Direct and incremental costs incurred in obtaining loans or in connection with the issuance of long-
term debt are capitalized and amortized over the terms of the related debt agreements using the
effective interest method. The amortization of deferred financing costs of 228,222, 262,493 and
266,148 were recognized and included in interest expenses in the consolidated statemenis of
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 20186, respectively.

Employee Benefit Expenses
Retirement Costs

Employees of the Group are members of a government-managed social security system scheme (ihe
“SSS Scheme™) operated by the Philippine government and the Group is required to pay a certain
percentage of employee relevant income and meet the minimum mandatory requirements of the SSS
Scheme to fund the benefits. The obligation of the Group with respect to the SSS Scheme operated by
the Philippine government is to make the required contributions specified therein.

The Group also has defined benefit obligations covering substantially all of its regular employees in
the Philippines. Retirement expenses are determined based on the provisions of Republic Act No.
7641, “Retirement Pay law”. The retirement benefit is computed as being 50% of basic monthly salary
plus one-twelfth of the 13th month pay for every year of service and the cash equivalent of not more
than 5 days of service incentive leaves. O

Remeasurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, excluding amounts included in interest on the
defined benefit obligations, are recognized immediately in the consolidated balance sheets with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings/accumulated deficit through other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.

Interest is calculated by applying discount rates to the defined benefit obligations. The Group
recognizes the changes in defined benefit obligations such as service costs and interest costs as
employee benefit expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income,

The Group also either contributes a fixed percentage of the eligible employees® base salaries, a fixed
amount or an amouut which matches the contributions of the employees up to a certain percentage of
base salaries 10 the defined contribution plans (the “Defined Contribution Fund Scheme™) which is
operated by Melco and its subsidiaries. The Group's contributions to the Defined Contribution Fund
Scheme are vested with employees in accordance with a vesting schedule, achieving full vesting 10
years from the date of employment. The Defined Contribution Fund Scheme was established under
trust with the fund assets being held separately from those of the Group by independent trustees.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Employee Benefit Expenses — continued

Annual Leave and Other Paid Leave

Employee entitlemenis to annual leave and other paid leave are recognized when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated Hability for annual leave and other paid leave as a
result of services rendered by emiployees for the year,

Bonus Plans
The Group recognizes a Hability and an expense for bonuses when contraetually obliged or where there
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Share-based Compensation :

The Group measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award, while an award of equity instruments
issued to consultanfs in exchange for services are measured al the fair values of services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The costs of services received are
recognized over the service period. Compensation is attributed to the periods of associate service and
such expense is recognized on an accelerated basis over the requisile service pericd for each separately
vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in substance, multiple awards. Each portion is treated
as a separate grant, as each portion has a different vesting period.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant, and adjusted for actual forfeitures to the extenti they differ
fromn the estimate. When the share options are forfeited afier the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognized in the share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits. When the awarded shares are not vested or are forfeited during the
vesting period, no share-based compensation expense is recognized.

Further information on the Group’s share-based compensation arrangement for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 for restricled shares and share options granted under its share
incentive plan (“Share Incentive Plan™) is included in Note 27,

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to usec the asset. A
reassessment is made affer inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: (a) there is a
change in coniractual {erms, other than a renewal or extension of the amrangement; {(b) a renewal option
is exercised or exiension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension was initially included in
the Iease term; (¢) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a
specified asset: or (d) there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of
renewal or extension period for scenario (b).
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Leases — continued

As a Lessee

Finance leases that transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
asset to the Group, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset
or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining Balance of the liability. The corresponding lease obligations, net of finance charges,
are included under current and non-current liabilities, Finance charges are recognized as interest
expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. A leased asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain O
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is-depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful
life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are recognized as an operating expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

As a Lessor

When assets are leased/granted out under an agrecinent for the right of use, the asset is included in the
consolidated balance sheets based on the nature of the asset. Lease rental (net of any incentives given
to tenants or 1o retailers) is recognized over the terms of the lease on a straight-line basis. Turnover
fees arising under operaling leases are recognized as income in the period in which they are earned.

Foreipn Currency Transactions

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, the functional currency

of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at O
the functional currency raies at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in {oreign currencics are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange at the
balance sheet date. All differences are taken lo the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

All exchange rate differences including those arising on the settlement of monetary ilems al rates
different from those at which these were recorded are recognized in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income in the year in which the differences aiise.

For income tax reporting purposes, exchange gains or losses are treaied as taxable income or
deductible expense in the year these are realized.

Income Tax

Current Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amounts expected
to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the
amounts are those that are enacted or substantively enacted as of the balance sheet date.
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Income Tax — continued

Deferred Tux

Deferred tax is provided using the liability methiod on temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assefs and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

* where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profits nor taxable profit or loss; and

» in respect of taxable teinporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlied and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward benefits of
unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax over regular corporate income tax and
uriused net operating loss carryovers (“NOLCO™) to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carryforward benefits of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

* where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profits nor taxable profit or loss; and

®  in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assels are recognized only to the extent it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance
sheet date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that fulure faxable profits will
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the assets are realized or the liabilities are settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other
comprehensive incomne or directly in equity.

Deferred 1ax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset
current tax assets againsi current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same tax authority.
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3. Summary of Significant Aceounting Policies — continued

Income Tax — continued
vAaT
Revenue, expenses and assels are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except:

* where the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax
authority, in which case the VAT is recognized as pari of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and

» recejvables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from the tax authority is included under other non-current assets O
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 in the consolidated balance sheets.

Gaming Tax and Other License Fees

The Licensees are required to pay license fees to PAGCOR ranging from 15% to 25% of its gross
gaming revenues on a monthly basis, starting from the date the casino commences operations.
PAGCOR temporarily allowed the Licensees 1o reallocate 10% of the license fees for payment of
corporate income taxes effective from Aprit 1, 2014 and until August 15, 2016, when the Group was
required to revert to the original license fee structure under the Regular License, as a resuli of the
decision of the Supreme Court of the Philippines (the “Supreme Court™) in the Bloomberry Case as
discussed in Note 18. The said reallocation of 10% of the license fees was required 1o be used for
subsidizing the payment of corporate income taxes and any portion not used for such payment must be
paid to PAGCOR as an annual true-up payment (as defined). Such license fees include the 5%
franchise tax on actual gross gaming revenues generated by the casino. The Group is also subject to
fees based on 5% of certain non-gaming revenue and 2% of casino revenues generated from non-junket
operation tables as further discussed in Note 23(c). These expenses are included in the accompanying
consolidated stalements of comprehensive incoime. _O

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidaied financial statements. These are disclosed
in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an ountflow of resources
embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent assels are not recognized in the consolidated
financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of eeonomic benefits is probabie,

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or
services within a particular economic environment subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments. Such operating results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker to make decisions about how resources are to be allocated to each of the segments and to assess
their performances, and for which discrete financial information is available.

City of Dreams Manila has operated in one geographical area for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016 where it derives its revenne. Segment information is presented in Note 28,
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — continued

Segment Reporling — continued

The Group currently operates in one business segment, namely, the management of its casino and hotel
resort, City of Dreams Manila. A single management team reports to the chief operating decision-
maker who comprehensively manages the entire business. Accordingly, the Group does not have
separate reportable segments,

4. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions. The judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the
consolidated financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as of the date of 1he consolidated financial staternents. Actual resulis could differ from
such estimates.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s policies, management has made the following judgments which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional Currency

Based on the economic substance of underlying circumstances relevant to the Group, the functional
currency of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries has been determined to be the Philippine peso.
The Philippine peso is the cumrency of the primary economic environment in which the Parent
Company and its subsidiaries operate and it is the currency that mainly influences the revenues and
expenses for management and operation of City of Dreams Manila.

Evaluating Lease Agreement A
The determination of whether a lease agreement has 10 be accounted for as operating or finance lease
requires significant judgment. The result of this determination can be significant to the Group’s
financial position or performance as the classification of the amounts of property and equipment and
the lease obligations depend on this assessment.

The Group, at inception of the Lease Agreement, has determined based on an evaluation of the terms
and conditions of the arrangements, that the lessor transfers substantially all the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership of the building to the Group. The present value of the minimum lease
payments is significantly higher than the fair value of the building at the lease inception date.
Management considered this factor as key in assessing whether the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the building had effectively been transferred 1o the Group. Meanwhile, the lease on the
land is considered as an operating lease because Belle retains all the significant risks and rewards of
ownership on the land at the end of the lease term and does not provide the Group with a bargain
purchase option over the leased asset (see Note 22(c)).
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4. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions ~ continued

Judgments — continued
Evaluating Lease Agreement — continued

As a Lessee

The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements as a lessee. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the lessor retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties because the lease agreements do not
transfer the ownership over the assets to the Group at the end of the lease term and do not provide the
Group with a bargain purchase option over the leased assets and so accounts for the contracts as

operating leases. O

As a Lessor

The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements as a lessor. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the Group retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties because the lease agreements do not
transfer to the lessee the ownership over the assets at the end of the lease term and do not provide the
lessee with a bargain purchase option over the leased assets and so accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.

Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal or Net as an Agent

The Group follows the accounting standards for reporting revenue gross as a principal versus net as an
agent, when accounting for the operations of one of the hotels and concluded that it is the controlling
entily and is the principal to this arrangement. For the operations of one of the hotels, the Group is the
owner of the hotel properly, and the hotel manager operates the lLotel under certain management
agreements providing management services to the Group, and the Group receives all rewards and takes
substantial risks associated with the hotel business, it is the principal and the transactions of the hotel

are, therefore, recognized on a gross basis, O

Estimates and Assumptions

The key estimates and assumptions conceming the future and other key sources of estimation
uncerfainty at the balance sheet date that may have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed helow.

Provisions for ECLs of Accounts Receivable (applicable from January 1, 2018)

The Group applies PFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECLs, using a lifetime expected loss
allowance for accounts receivable, The Group determines the allowance based on specific customer
information, historical write-off experience, current industry and economic data and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions. A
provision of ECL for accounts reccivable is recorded when the Group believes it is probable the
recoverable amount of the recejvables will be less than their carrying amounts. Account balances are
written-off against the allowance when the Group considers the receivables fo be
uncollectible. Management believes there are no concentrations of credit risk for which an allowance
has not been established. Although management believes the allowance is adequate, it is possible the
estimated amount of cash collections with respect to accounts receivable could change.
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4. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Estimating Allowances for Doubtful Debts (applicabie before January I, 2018)

The allowances for doubtful debts represented the Group’s best estimate of the amount of probable
credit losses in the Group's existing accounts receivable balance. The Group evaluated allowances for
doubtful debts based on specific review of customer accounts as well as management’s experience with
collection trends in the casino industry and current economic and business conditions. As customer
payment experience evolved, managemeni would continue o refine the estimated allowances for
doubtful debis. Accordingly, the associaled doubfful debts expense might fluctuate. Because
individual customer account balances could be significant, the allowances and the expenses could
change significantly between periods, as customer information became known or as changes in a
region’s economy or legal systems occurred.

The provisions for doubtful debts of accounts receivable for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016 amounted to £244,966, 95,649 and 94,660, respectively. The carrying amount of accounis
receivable, net amiounted to P 1,476,364 and £1,328,372 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively (see Note 7).

Classification of Sales Incentives

Revenues are recognized net of cerlain sales incentives, such as commissions and discounts. Gaming
promoters introduce rolling chip customers to City of Dreamis Manila. In exchange for their services,
the Group compensates paming promoters by paying them commissions based on either a percentage
of the gaming win or loss or rolling chip volume. Before the adoption of the New Revenue Standard,
the Group recorded a poriion of the commissions paid or payable (o the gaming promoters as a
reduction of gross casine revenues, which corresponded to the approximate amount of commissions
returned to the rolling chip customers by the gaming promoters. The consolidated statement of
comprehensive income classification for a portion of the commissions paid or payable to the gaming
promoters as a reduction of gross casino revenues depended on management’s judgments and
estimations of the percentages of commissions retumed to the rolling chip customers by the gaming
promoters. After the adoption of the New Revenue Standard, all commissions paid to gaming
promoters are reflected as reduetions in casino revenues.

Estimating Usefidl Lives of Property and Equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment based on the period over which the
assels are expected to be available for operational use. The estimated useful lives of property and
equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due
to physical wear and 1ear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of
the assets. In addition, estimations of the useful lives of property and equipment are based on
collective assessments of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar
assets. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes
in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. A reduction in the estinated useful
lives of property and equipment would increase the recorded expenses and decrease non-current assets.

There were no changes made to the estimated useful lives of the Group’s property and equipment. The
carrying values of property and equipment amounted to £20,359,266 and £23,130,988 as of December
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 8).
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4. Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Estimating Fair Value of Share-based Compensation

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-
based compensation transactions requires determination of the most appropriate valuation model,
which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires determination
of the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the share option,
volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions and models used
for estimating fair value for share-based compensation transactions are disclosed in Note 27.

Estimating Retirement Benefits : O
The Group’s obligation and cost for retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain
assumptions used by the Group’s actuaries in calculating such amounts. Those assumptions include,
among others, discount rates and expected rates of salary increases. A significant change in any of
these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the recognized expense and the carrying amount of
the retirement benefit obligations. The amount of retirement benefit obligations and expenses and an

analysis of the movements in the estinated present values and assumptions used are disclosed in Note
21,

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

PFRS requires that an impairment review be performed when certain impaiment indicators are
present. Determining the value of property and equipment, contract acquisition costs, other intangible
assets and other non-current assets, which requires the determination of future cash flows expected 1o

be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets, requires the Group 10
make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the consolidated {inancial statements.
Future events could cause the Group to conclude that such assets are impaired, Any resulting
impairment could have a material impact on the financial condition and results of operation of theO
Group.

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves judgment and estimations. While the
Group believes that its assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these
assumptions may materially affect the Group’s assessment of recoverable values and may lead to
future additional impairnment charges under PFRS.

Except for provisions for input VAT expected to be non-recoverable amounted to 216,370, 2142,051
and 271,938 recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see
Note 15), no other impaimment losses were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016, The carrying values of property and equipment amounted to 20,359,266 and 823,130,988
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 8); the carrying values of confract
acquisition costs amounted to 759,687 and 811,779 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively
(see Note 9); and the carrying values of other intangible assets amounted to nil and 2,446 as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 10).
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4.

Sigaificant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Estimates and Assumptions — continued

Recagnition of Deferred Tax Assets

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and
reduces these to the extent it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group’s assessment on the recognition of
deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences and carryforward benefits is based on the level
and timing of forecasted taxable income of subsequent reporting periods. The forecast is based on past
results and future expectations on revenues and expenses as well as future tax planning sirategies.
However, there is no assurance that the Group will generate sufficient faxable income to allow all or
part of its deferred income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets on deferred rent under PAS 17 amounting to 181,674 and 2207,291 were
recognized as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, to the extent of the amount of the
reversing deductible temporary difference arising from capitalized interest expense.

Cerlain deferred tax assets were not recognized because management believes future taxable profits
may not be available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.

Unrecognized deferred 1ax assels amounted to £6,043,164 and 86,651,693 as of December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively (see Note 18).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

December 31,

2018 017
Cash on hand - B2.271,517 B1,750,376
Cash in banks 4,537,195 4,582,205

6,808,712 $£6,332,581

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates. Interest income earned from cash in

banks amounted to P44,754, B37,649 and 14,897 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 represents an escrow account that is restricted for
foundation fees payable in accordance with the terms of the Regular License. Interest income eamed
from restricled cash amounted to B1,764, 2995 and 338 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016, respectively.
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7. Accounts Receivable, Net
Components of accounts receivable, net are as follows:

December 31

2018 2017
Casino P1,554,846 £1,374,486
Hotel 47,355 60,170
Other 4.703 3,716
1,606,904 1,438,372

Less: Allowances for doubtful debis (130,540 (110,000)
: P1,476,364° R1,328,372

Movement in the allowances for doubtful debts were as fallows:

Year Ended December 31,

Note 2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year £110,000 102,823 £1,700
Additional provisions 244,966 95,649 94,660
Write-offs, net of recoveries - (354) -
Reclassified 1o long-term receivables, net 11 (230,198} (84,475) -
Revaluations 5,772 (3,643) 6,463
Balance at end of year P130,540 B110,000 B102,823

The Group grants unsecured credit Jines to gaming promoters based on pre-approved credit limits. The O
Group typically issues markers to gaming promoters with a credit period of 30 days., There arc some
gaming promoters for whom credit is granted on a revolving basis based on the Group’s monthly credit

risk assessment of such gaming promoters. Credit lines granted to all gaming promoters are subject to
monthly review and various settlement procedures. For other approved casino customers, the Group
typically allows a credit period of 14 days to 28 days on issuance of markers following investigations

of creditworthiness. An extended repayment term of typically 90 days may be offered to casino
customers with large gaming losses and established credit histories,

The Group currently has a legally enforceable right 10 offset the commissions payable and front money
deposits against the casino receivables where it intends to settle on a net basis. As of December 31,
2018 and 2017, the gross amounis of current easino receivables of 83,369,960 and 23,161,533 were
offset by commissions payable and fromt money deposits in aggregate amounts of 21,815,114 and
R1,787,047, respectively.

Impairment under PFRS 9 for the Year Ended December 31, 2018

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs for its accounts receivable. An
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns and adjusted for factors specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
forecasts and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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7. Accounts Receivable, Net - continued

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s accounts recejvable

using a provision matrix:

December 31, 2018
Expected Gross Expecfed
Credit Carrying Credit
Loss Rate Amount Losses
Current - £1,377,318 P
Past due:
1 — 30 days 2,7% 24,163 661
31-60days - - 1,801 -
61 — 90 days - 827 -
Over 90 days 64.0% 202,795 129,879
8.1% 1,606,904 130,540

Comparative Information under PAS 39 for the Year Ended December 31, 2017
The aging analysis of these accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired is as follows:

Past duc:
1 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
Over 90 days

December 31,

2017

B26,066
158,325
61,994
85,948

'P332.333
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8. Property and Equipment, Net

December 31, 2018
Fumiture, Plant and
Building undera  Leasehold Motor Fixtures and Gaming  Construction
Einance Lense  Improvements  Vehicles Equipmem Machinery  in Progress Talal

Cosls:
Balanee at beginning of year R11,820,440 R13,583,234 R94,605 PR7,078,679 #2,907,210 R~ R35789,168
Additigns - 476,692 - 294,850 430,080 - 1,201,622
Pisposals - (2,181) - {36,516) {25,058) - {63,755}
Transfer - 216 - (233) 17 - -
Balance a1 end of year 11,820,440 14,362,961 94,605 7,336,780 3312,249 -~ 36,927,035
Accuinviated depreciation
and amortization; O
Balance al beginning of year (3,934,736)  {4,332,127) (49,545  {(4,761,582)  (1.580,190) ~  {12,658,180)
Depreciation and amantization {636,077y {1,503,229) {17,707y {1,216,348) (587,604) - {3,960,965)
Disposals - 682 - 34,468 16,226 - 51,376
Transler - (19 - 21 (2} - -
Balance at end of year (2,570,813)  [5,834,693) (67,252)  (5,943,441) (2,151,570} - (16,567,769}
Net book value P9,249,627 P§,528,268 B27,353 P1,393,339  R1,160,679 B-  P20.359,266
December 31, 2017
Fumiture, Piant and
Building undera  Leaschold Motor Fixiures and Gaming Construction
Finance Lease  Improvements  Vehicles Equipmemt  Machinery  in Progress Total
Costs: .
Balance at beginning of year PR11,820,440 213,989,533 R80.583  R6,752,930 R2,723508 P94.945 R35461,939
Additions - 103,595 20.148 363.876 100,475 21.606 709,760
Adjustinents te projeci costs - {7.280% - (15.612) {246} - {23,138)
Disposals - (313,72 {6,126} 121,715 {17,761} - (359333
Transler - 116,113 - 1796) 1,234 1116.551) -
Balance at end of year 11,820,440  13.888,234 94.605 7.078.679 2.907.210 - 35789.188 O
Accuinulaled depreciation
and amortization:
Balance at beginning of year {1,298,658) (2,979,989) {35,856) (3,280,443} {1,000415) -~ {8,595,36))
Depreciation and amostization {636,078) ().485,9066) {18,080)  {1.500.873) (539,570) - (4,230.567)
Disposals - 133,849 4391 19,671 9,837 - 167,748
Transfer - {21} - 63 (42) - -
Balance at end of year {1,934,736)  (4,332,127) (49,545 (4,761,582)  (1.580,1%0} ~ (12,658,180}
Net book value £0.885,704  P9,556,107 P45.060  PB2317.097  B1327020 B R23,130988

Construction in progress represents the design and development cost for fit-out of City of Dreams
Manila which included direct incidental costs capitalized (representing traveling expenses, salaries and

wages, intercompany management fee expenses incurred, depreciation of equipment and applicable
interest costs).
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9. Contract Acquisition Costs, Net

Costs:
Balance at beginning and at end of year

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year
Amortization

Balance at end of year

Net book value

10. Other Intangible Assets, Net

Costs:
Balance at beginning and at end of year

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year
Amortization

Balance at end of year

Net book value

11. Other Non-current Assets

Input VAT, net

Deposits for acquisitions of property and equipment
Security and rental deposits

Non-current portion of prepaid rents

Other non-current assets and deposits

December 31,

2018 2017
P1,063,561 £1,063,561
(251,782) (199,689)
(52,092) (52,003)
(303,874) (251,782)
£759,687 P811,779

December 31,

2018 2017
P8,698 P8,608
(6,252) (3,262)
(2,446) (2,990)
(8,698) (6,252)
P £2,446

December 31,

2018 2017
R1,059,572 £1,048,663
603,700 81,696
160,479 114,153
137,483 105,935
60,632 45,400
£2,021,866 £1,395,847
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11. Other Non-current Assets — continued

Input VAT, net represents the VAT expected to be recoverable from the tax authority in the
Philippines. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, provisions for input VAT
expected to be non-recoverabie amouniing to £216,370, 8142,051 and 271,938, respectively, were
recognized and included in other expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
(Note 15). As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, provisions for input VAT were 2,057,335 and
1,840,965, respectively.

Melco Resorts Leisure received from the Bureau of Intemal Revenue (the “BIR™) a letter of authority
(*LOA™) for audit of the VAT for 2015 (2015 VAT™} and the VAT for 2017 in June 2016 and April
2018, respectively, and the audit of the VAT for 2016 (“2016 VAT™) was included under a LOA
received by Melco Resorls Leisure from the BIR in August 2017 for the review of all intemal revenue
taxes for 2016.

In June 2017 and February 2019, Melco Resorts Leisure received from the BIR a final assessment
notice (“FAN™) relating to an alleged deficiency of VAT for 2014 (2014 VAT and 2015 VAT on
gaming revenues, respectively, after the BIR audit. Melco Resorts Leisure believes the legal basis for
the FANs on gaming revenues is without inerit and has filed protest letters with the BIR in July 2017
and March 2019 requesting the cancellation of the FAN of 2014 VAT and 2015 VAT, respectively,
there is no reply from the BIR on the protest letters as of the date of this report.

There is no FAN received from the BIR relating to the 2014 VAT for non-gaming operations of Melco
Resorts Leisure. In December 2018, Melco Resorls Leisure received from the BIR a preliminary
assessment notice which included a deficiency of the 2015 VAT for non-gaming operations, and Melco
Resorts Leisure subsequently settled the deficiency of 2015 VAT related to the non-gaming operations
in January 2019,

- Long-term receivables, net represent casino receivables from casino customers where selilements areo
not expected within the next financial year. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, net
amounts of curreni accounts receivable of 230,198 and £84,475 and net amounts of allowances for
doubtful debts of ¥230,198 and 284,475, respectively, were reclassified 1o non-current. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the gross amounts of non-current casino receivables of 8435,995 and
P86,094 were offset by commissions payable and front money deposits in an aggregate amounts of
121,322 and R1,619, respectively. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the balance of long-term
receivables, net was nil in each of those periods.

Movement in the allowances for doubtful debts for long-tenn receivables were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of year P84,475 B B
Additional provisions 230,713 85,223 -
Revaluations (515) (748) -

Balance at end of year P314.673 £84.,475 B




41

MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

12. Accrued Expenses, Other Payables and Other Current Liabilities

December 31,
2018 2017

Outstanding gaming chips and tokens 4,198,666 2,100,157
Accruals for:

Gaming tax and license fees 1,680,587 1,177,194

Employee benefit expenses 667,744 656,783

Property and equipment 298,654 181,894

Payments to the Philippine Parties 99,105 -

Taxes and licenses 42,553 41,039

Operating and other expenses 858,200 898,136
Advance customer deposits and ticket sales ) 842,994 582,889
Withholding taxes payable 227,222 140,768
Interest expenses payable - 85,417
Other payables and liabilities 69,417 44,191

$8,985,142 $5,908,468

Accrued expenses, other payables and other current liabilities are due for payment within one year.

13. Equity
Number of Capital
Noie Shares Stock
Ordinary shares of 1 per share
Authorized: ,
As of January 1, 2017, December 31, 2017,
January 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018 5,900,000,000 £5,900,000
Issued and fully paid:
As of January 1, 2017 5,662,897,278 B5,662,897
Issuance of shares for restricted shares vested 27 2,826,644 2,827
Exercise of share options 27 1,040,485 1,040
As of December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2018 5,666,764,407 5,666,764
Issuance of shares for restricted shares vested 27 20,506,393 20,507
As of December 31, 2018 5,687,270,800 P5,687,271

On June 26, 2017, the board of directors and stockholders of MRP approved an increase in the
authorized capital stock of up to 11,900,000 divided into 11.9 billion shares with a par value of 1 per
share from the authorized capital stock of £5,900,000 divided into 5.9 billion shares with a par value of
1 per share, subject to the SEC’s approval.
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13. Equity — continued

Equity Reserve

The amount of equity reserve consists of the net difference between the cost of MRP to acquire
MPHIL Holdings Group and the legal capital of the latter (i.e., common stock and additional paid-in
capital) at the date of reverse acquisition plus the retained earnings of MRP as of December 19, 2012,
the date when MRP was acquired by Melco through MCO Investments and MPHIL.

The equity reserve is accounted for as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017 O
Retained earnings of MRP as of December 19, 2012 $732,453 £732,453
Consideration to MRP for the acquisition of MPHIL Holdings Group (7,198,590) (7.198,590)
Legal capital of MPHIL Holdings Group as of March 20, 2013 2,852,147 2,852,147
(23,613,990) (23,613,990)

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company had 407 and 423 stockholders, respectively.

14. Employee Benefit Expenses

Year Ended December 31,

Nbotes 2018 2017 2016

Basic salaries, allowances, bonuses

and other amenities 3,626,940 23,149,680 £2,990,448
Annual leave and other paid leave 193,036 163,680 142,723
Retirement costs — defined eontribution O

plans 81,687 67,311 68,580
Retirement costs — defined benefit

obligations 21 26,617 20,703 14,817
Share-based compensation 27 (779 26,008 10,542
Other employee benefits 208,319 209,890 - 222,656

$4,135,820 £3,637,.272 23,449,766
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15. Other Expenses

Year Ended December 31,
Notes 2018 2017 2016

Facilities and supplies expenses P1,548,891 P1,482,897  B1,256,021
Management fee expenses 968,057 804,629 516,483
Other gaming operations expenses 928,788 5,376,929 3,466,744
Trademark license fees 16 784,712 674,940 72,224
Advertising, marketing, promotional and

entertainment expenses 614,812 437.532 359,495
Provisions for input VAT 11 216,370 142,051 271,938
Rental expenses 23(b) 202,553 220,837 266,136
Office and administrative expenses : 200,490 169,649 167,408 .
Taxes and Licenses 41,071 52,755 104,661
Net loss (gain) on disposals of property and

equipinent 11,610 185,565 (377,167)
Insurance claim recovery - - (100,000)
Operating and other expenses 414,638 483,459 453,073

B5.931,992 $10,031,247 6,457,016

16. Related Party Transactions

Pariies are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, the
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common conirol or eommon
significant influence.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
significant transactions with related parties for the years:

Amouni of Transactions Quistanding Balance

————rarar

Year Ended December 31, Deeembier 31,
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 Terms Conditions
Amiounts due from related parties
Amount due from g sharchofder
Amount due from MPHIL f P- B~ R6,157 #3,716 Repayable Unsecured, no
on demand; impainnent
non-interest
bearing
Amaoant due from vltimare lolding
compaiy
Melco™ .,
Management fee income™ P P~ RILLI34 = P
Management fee expenses - - 1,706 - -
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16. Related Party Transactions — continued

Amount of Transactions Ouzstanding Balance

Year Ended December 31, December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 Terms

Amounis due from related parties — continued

Amtonunt due from dan intermediare
holding compaiy
Meleo'

Management fee income'™ £3,763 £9,915 $5,237 P -

Managemeni fee expenses 255283 148,397 39,533 - -

Amecunt due from Melco - - ~ 132,377 156,887 Repayable
on demand;
non-interest
bearing

Amaunt due from inmediate
holding compuny
Amount due from MCO Repayabie
Investments f o £ RO95 PF295 on demand;
non-interest
bearing

Amonms due fiom affiliated
compmities
Melco Intemational’s
subsidiares'” (other than
MPHIL; Mcleo and MCO
Investments}
Managemept fees and other
expenses'™ P~ R53848 P [ I
Amounts due froms Melco Repavable
International’s subsidiaries - - - 33 72 on demand;
non-interest
bearing

Amounts due to related parties

Amounts due o affiiioted
eompanies
Melca's subsidiaries'?
Acquisitions of property and
equipment s P PR23.097 P E=
Managemept fees and ather
expensest’ - - 166,861 - -

Melco Intematjonal’s
subsidiaries'”
Acquisitions of property and
equipment E B F15,010 f b
Management fees and other
expenses™ 794,596 689,805 342,716 - -
Trademark icense fees 784,712 674,940 72,224 - -
Purchases of goods and
services 8,141 3,773 870 - -
Amounts due to Melco Repayabje
International’s subsidiaries - - ~ 186,880 100,291 on demand;
non-inferest
bearing

Conditions

Unsecured, no
impairment

Unsecured, no
impairment

Unsecured, no
impairment

Unsecured
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16. Related Party Transactions — continued

Amount of Transactions Outstanding Balance
Year Ended December 31, December 3,
2018 2017 2016 2018 2017 Terms Conditions

Amounts due to related parties ~ continued

Amounts due to affiliared
conpanies — continved
Crown Resorts Limited
(“Crown”}'s subsidfaries and
an associated company'

Acquisitions of property

and equipment P B RI0027 P P
Management fees, consultancy

fee and facilities expenses — 5,126 53,883 - -

Notes:

(17 In May 2016, he Parent Company's ultimate holding company was changed from Melco 10 Meleo International upon the completion of
the restrecturing (musaciions by Melco,

(2) The amount represents the recharge of share-based compensation for centain directors of MRP for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016,

{3) Management services are provided by Meleo Intermational group companies.  These services include, but are not limited te, corporate
expenses, gaming operations suppor and facilities services for the Grouop,

(#) In Febnrary 2017, Melco International completed the purchase of centain orlinary shares of Meleco from a subsidiary of Crown. Upon
completion of the transaction, Crown's beneficial inferests in Melco decreased 1o below 10%, and Crown and fis subsidiaries and
assorfaied company are no longer regarded as refated parties of Mclco and (he Group.

Directors’ Remuneration

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the remuneration of directors of the Group
was barne by Melco.

Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The compensation of key management persounel of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind P67,611 £09 255 R104,966
Performance bonuses ' 33,937 90,416 68,832
Retirement costs — defined contribution plans 125 3,929 3,416
Share-based compensation 8,204 20,841 15,329

£109,877 P214,441 P192,543

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, part of the compensation of key management
personnel of the Group was borne by Melco.
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17. Basic/Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (1oss) per share is calculated by dividing net profit (loss) for the year by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted eamings (loss) per share is
calculated in the same manmer, adjusted for the dilutive effect of any potential common shares.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share is based on the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Net profit (loss) $2,662,000 PB353,923 (21,581,299 O

Weighted average number of commmon shares
outstanding used in the calculation of basic

earnings (loss) per share 5,671,875,650 5,664,563,576 5,671,205,713
Adjustments for share options and restricted
shares 39,916,407 44,764,328 -

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding used in the calculation of diluted

earnings (loss) per share 5,711,792,057 5,709,327,904 5,671,205,713
Basic earnings (loss) per share £0.47 £0.06 (R0.28)
Diluted eamnings (loss) per share B0.47 R0.0S (B0.28)

Anti-dilutive share options and restricted
shares excluded froin the calculation of
diluted earnings (loss) per share 8,707,861 12,363,436 61,630,418 ()

18. Income Tax

The provision for income tax for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Provision for current income tax R75 £198 £327
Over-provision of income tax in prior year (292) {160) -
Deferred tax charge 61,353 38,245 82,069

P61,136 R38,283 282,396
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18. Income Tax - continued

A reconciliation of income {ax provision (benefif) computed at the statutory income tax rate to

provision for income fax is as folows:

Income tax provision (benefit) computed at statufory
income tax rate
Income tax effects of:
Over-provision of income tax in prior year
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets
in prior year
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Expired NOLCO
Effect of profits generated by gaming operations
exempted from corporate income tax
Interest income subject to final tax
Interest income not taxable

Year Eonded December 31,
2018 2017 2016

£816,941 P117,662 (RB449.671)

(292) (160) -

(601,123) 409,787 1,231,758

354,874 (67,339) 09,238

185,663 165,002 173,193

1,943,197 1,418,088 432,014
(2,621,353) (1,991,571) {1,398,046)
{13,956) (11,593) {4,569)
(2,015) (1,593) (1,521)

P61,136 R38283 BR2,396

The components of the Group’s net deferred tax liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as

follows:

Deferred tax asset:
Deferred rent under PAS 17

Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized interest expenses
Unrealized foreign exchange gains, net

December 31,
2018 2017
P181,674 £207,291
(181,674) (207,291)
{180,7896) (119,433)
(362,460) (326,724)
(B180,780) (B119,433)
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18. Income Tax - continued
The Group has not recopnized the following deferred tax assets on deductible temuporary differences

since management believes the Group may not be able to realize the benefits from these deferred tax
assets in the future.

December 31,
2018 2017
NOLCO $4,011,299 R4,777.998
Deferred rent under PAS 17 1,681,104 1,413,723
Share-based compensation 121,889 165,758
Interest expenses - 32,031
Others : 228,872 262,183

6,043,164 6,651,693

As of December 31, 2018, the Group’s NOLCO which can be carried forward and claimed as
deductions from regular taxable income in future years is analysed as follows:

Year Incurred Expiry Year Amount Applied Expired Balance
20138 2021 $4,658,126 P P $4,658,126
2017 2020 4,184,037 - — 4,184,037
2016 2019 4,528,834 - - 4,528,834
2015 2018 6,477,322 — 6,477,322 -

219,848,319 6,477,322 #13,370,997

Section 13(2)(a) of Presidential Decree No. 1869 (the “PAGCOR Charter”) granis PAGCOR an O '
exemplion from tax, income or otherwise, as well as exemption from any form of charges, fees, levies
of whatever nature, whether national or local, exccpt a 5% franchise tax on the gross revenue or
eamings derived by PAGCOR on ils operations under the franchise. Such tax shall be in leun of all
taxes, levies, fees or assessments of any kind, nature or description, levied, established or collected by
any municipal, provincial, or national government authority. Section 13(2)(a) of the PAGCOR Charter
which provides that the exemptions granted for eamings derived from the operations conducted under
the franchise specifically from the payment of any tax, income or otherwise, as well as any form of
charges, fees or levies, shall inure to the benefit of and extend to the corporations, associations,
agencies or individuals with whom PAGCOR, or the operator has any contractual relationship in
connection with the operations of the casino authorized to be conducted under the franchise and to
those receiving compensation of other remuneration from PAGCOR or the operator as a result of
essenfial facilities furnished and/or technical services rendered to PAGCOR or the operator.
Management believes that the tax benefits granted to PAGCOR under its charter inure to the benefit of,
and extend to corporations, associations and agencies, and individuals with whom PAGCOR has any
contractual agreement in accordance with Section 13(2){b) of the PAGCOR Charter.
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18. Income Tax — continued

On April 17, 2013, the BIR issued Revenue Memorandum Circular (“RMC™) No, 33-2013 clarified
that PAGCOR was no longer exempt from corporate income tax and thus subject to corporate income
tax under the National Internal Revenue Code (the “Tax Code™) on its gaming and non-gaming
operations, The RMC further provided that PAGCOR?s licensees and contractees, which are entities
duly authorized and licensed by PAGCOR to perform the gaming and non-gaming operations, were
likewise subject to income tax under the Tax Code.

To address the additional exposure to corporate income tax brought by BIR RMC No. 33-2013, in May
2014, PAGCOR temporarily allowed the Licensees to reallocate 10% of the license fees for payment of
corporale income taxes effective from April 1, 2014. The said reallocation of 10% of the license fees
was required to be used for subsidizing the payment of corporate income taxes and any portion not
used for such payment must be paid to PAGCOR as an annual true-up payment (as defined). On
August 10, 2016, the Supreme Court found in the case of Bloomberry Resorts and Holels, Inc. vs. the
BIR, G. R. No. 212530 (“Bloonmberry Case™) that all contractees and licensees of PAGCQOR, should be
exempt from fax, including corporate income taxes realized from the casino operations, upon payment
of the 5% franchise tax. The BIR subsequently filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the said decision,
which was denied by the Supreme Court with finality in its resolution dated November 28, 2016.
Based on the Supreme Court decision, management believes that Melco Resorts Leisure’s gaming
operations should be exempt from corporate income tax, among other laxes, provided the license fees
which are inclusive of the 5% franchise tax under the PAGCOR Charter, are paid.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Melco Resorts Leisure was registered with Philippine Economic
Zone Authority (“PEZA™) as a tourism economic zone enterprise (“Tourism Economic Zone
Enterprise™} for the development and operation of tourist facilities. As a Tourism Economic Zone
Enterprise, Melco Resorts Leisure was granted the following fiscal incentives: (a) tax and duty-free
importation of certain eligible capital equipment to be used as part of its registered activities; and (b)
VAT-zero rating on local purchases of certain eligible capital equipment in accordance with the PEZA
rules and regulations. '

In August 2017, Melco Resorts Leisure received from the BIR two separate LOAs for the review of all
internal revenue taxes for 2015 (excluding 2015 VAT) and 2016 (including 2016 VAT). No
assessment perlaining to the LOAs has been issued by the BIR as of the date of this report.

In July 2018, the Parent Company received from the BIR a LOA for the audit of all internal revenue
taxes for 2010 to 2016.
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19. Obligations Under a Finance Lease

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the minimum lease payments arid present value of minimum lease
payments on the Group’s obligations under a finance lease were as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Present Value of Present Value of
Minimum Lease Minimun: Lease Minimum Lease Minimum Lease
Payments Pavments Payments Payments
Amounts payable under a finance lease:
Within pne year £1,961,015 £1,824,898 R1,786,101 P1,661,79%
In more than one year and not more
than five years 9,482,220 6,329,181 8,942.975 5,939,560
In more than five years 24,602,726 7,020,742 27,101,474 7,332,303
36,045,961 15,183,821 37,830,550 14,933,752
Less: Finance charges (20,862,140) - (22,896,798) -
Present value of lease obligations 15,183,821 15,183,821 14,933,752 14,933,752
Less: Current portion of obligations
under a finance lease (1,824,898) (1,661,799}
Non-currert portion of obligations
under a finance lease £13,358,923 R13,271.953

For the years ended Decemnber 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, finance charges on obligations under a
finance lease amounted to £2,032,700, £1,992,234 and 21,945,175, of which nil, 2,435 and 28,823,
were capitalized, respectively.

20. Long-term Debt, Net : - O
December 31,
2018 2017
Senior Notes ' E £7,500,000
Less: Unamortized deferred financing costs - (40,366)
— 7,459,634

Current portion of long-term debt -

B- $7,458,634

(a} Senior Notes

On Janvary 24, 2014, Melco Resorts Leisure issued £15,000,000 in an aggregate principal amount
of 5% senior notes due 2019 and priced at 100% and offered to certain primary institutional
lenders as noteholders via private placemeut in the Philippines (the “Senior Notes™. The net
proceeds from the offering of the Senior Notes were mainly used for funding the City of Dreams
Manila project.
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20. Long-term Debt, Net — continued
(a) Senior Notes — continued

On August 31, 2018 and October 9, 2017, Melco Resorts Leisure partially redeemed the Senior
Notes in an aggregate principal amount of 35,500,000 and 27,500,000, respectively, and on
December 28, 2018 further redeemed in full the remaining portion of the Senior Notes in an
aggregate principal amount of 2,000,000, together with accrued interest. Accordingly, the Group
recorded a #12,144 and £48,641 losses on extinguishment of debt for the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Senior Notes would have matured on January 24, 2019, and the interest on the Senior Notes
was accrued at a rate of 5% per annum and was payable semi-annually in arrears. In addition, the
Senior Notes included a tax gross-up provision requiring Melco Resorts Leisure 10 pay without any
deduction or withholding for or on account of tax.

The Senior Notes were general obligations of Melco Resorts Leisure, secured on a first-ranking
basis by pledge of shares of all present and fulure direct and indirect subsidianies of MRP, ranked
equally in right of payment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of Melco Resorts Leisure
(save and except for any statutory preference or priority) and ranked senior in right of payment to
any existing and future subordinated indebtedness of Melco Resorts Leisure.,

The Senior Notes were guarantced by MRP and all present and fulure direct and indirect
subsidiaries of MRP (subject 1o certain limited exceptions) (collectively the “Guaraniors™), jointly
and severally with Melco Resorls Leisure; and irrevocably and unconditionally by Melco on a
senior basis. The guarantees were general obligations of the Guarantors, ranked equally in right of
paywment to all existing and future senior indebtedness of the Guarantors (except for any statutory
preference or priority) and ranked semior in right of payment to any existing and future
subordinated indebtedness of the Guarantors.

The notes facility and security agreement (the “Notes Facility and Security Agreement™) goveming
the Senior Notes confained certain covenants that, subject to cerlain exceptions and conditions,
limited the ability of MRP and its subsidiaries, including Melco Resorts Leisure to, among other
things: (i) incur or guarantee additional indebiedness; (ii) sell assets; (iii) create liens; and (iv)
effect a consolidation or merger. The Notes Facility and Security Agreement also contained
conditions and events of default customary for such financings.
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20. Long-term Debt, Net — continued
(b) Shareholder Loan Facility

On December 23, 2013, Melco Resorls Leisure, as borrower (the “Borrower™), signed the
definitive agreement of the senior secured shareholder loan facility (the “Shareholder Loan
Factility”) in an aggregate amount of up to US$340,000,000 (the “Shareholder Loan™) with MCO
Investments as lender (the “Lender”). The Shareholder Loan Facility is a term loan facility
denominated in United States dollars (“US$”). MRP, MPHIL Holdings No. 1, MPHIL Holdings
No. 2 (together with the Borrower, the “Obligors™) have provided a guarantee under the
Shareholder Loan Facility in favor of the Lender in relalion to the obligations of the Obligors
under the Shareholder Loan. The Lender may require such security as notified by the Lender to O
the Borrower, including a pledge -of shares (Jegally and beneficially held) over each of the present
and future direct and indirect subsidiaries of MRP to be provided as a condition precedent to the
initial utilization of the Sharecholder Loan.

The Shareholder Loan Facility availability period is to be notified by the Lender prior to the initial
utilization of the Shareholder Loan, and is subject to quarlerly amortization payments. The
individual drawdowns under the Shareholder Loan Facility are subjecl to certain conditions
precedent, including completion of a utilization request for proposed drawdowns and jssuance of
promissory notes in favor of the Lender with the same amount of proposed drawdowns.
Borrowings under the Sharcholder Loan Facility bear inierest at a fixed rate of 5% per annum,
accrued prior to the first interest payment date. The Shareholder Loan Facility includes a 1ax
gross-up provision requiring Melco Resorts Leisure to pay without any deduction or withholding
for or on account of tax.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Shareholder Loan Facility has not been drawn.
(c) The Credit Facility ' O

On October 14, 2015, the Parent Company entered into an on-deinand, unsecured credit facility
agreement of 82,350,000, as amended from time to time (the “Credit Facility”) with a lender to
finance advances 1o Melco Resorts Leisure. As of December 31, 2018, the Credit Facility
availability period, as amended from time to timne, is up to May 31, 2019, and the maturity date of
each individual drawdown, as amended from time to timne, to be the earlier of: (i) the date which is
one year from the date of drawdown, and (ii) the date which is 360 days after the end of the
availability period. The individual drawdowns under the Credit Facility are subject to certain
conditions precedent, including issuance of a promissory notes in favor of the lender evidencing
such drawdowns. As of December 31, 2018, borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest, as
amended, at the higher of: (i) the Philippine Dealing System Treasury Reference Rate PM (the
“PDST-R2”) of the selected interest period plus the applicable PDST-R2 margin of 1.25% per
annum, and (ii) Philippines Term Deposit Facility Rate (the “TDF™) of the selected interest period
plus the applicable TDF margin ranging from 0.50% to 0.75% per annum, such rate 1o be set one
business day prior to the relevant interest period. The Credit Facility includes a tax gross-up
provision requiring the Parent Company to pay without any deduction or withholding for or on
account of tax.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Credit Facility has not been drawn.
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20. Long-term Delit, Net — continued

(d) Unamortized Deferred Financing Costs

Direct and incremental costs of 333,711 incurred in connection with the issuance of the Senior
Notes are capitalized in deferred financing costs. Other than the write-off of unamortized deferred
financing costs of B12,144 and 248,641 as losses on extinguishment of debt during the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, deferred financing costs of 28,222 £62,493 and
P66,148 were included in interest expenses and amortized to the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As
of December 31, 2017, the unamortized deferred finarcing costs of R40,366 were netted off and
inciuded in the amount of long-term debt as shown in the consolidated balance sheets.

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, interest expenses on long-term debt consisted
of interest on the Senior Notes in the amounis of B352,170, 830,729 and 937,500, respectively. No
interest on long-term debt was capilalized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Group’s borrowing rate was
approximately 6.25% per annun1 in each of those years, including a tax gross-up impact on interest on
the Senior Noies which required Melco Resoris Leisure to pay without any deduction or withholding
for or on account of tax.

For the vears ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, other finance fees on long-lerm debt
represenied the gross receipt tax on interest on the Senior Notes, including a tax gross-up impact which
required Melco Resorts Leisure to pay withount any deduction or withholding for or on account of tax
amounted to 17,968, B42,384 and 247,832, respectively.

. Retirement Costs — Defined Benefit Obligations

The Group has defined benefit obligations covering substantially all of ils regular employees. The
costs of providing benefits are valued every vear by a professional qualified independent actuary in
compliance with PAS 19. Benefits are dependent on the years of service and the respective
employees’ compensation, and are determined using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method.

The following tables summarize the components of retirement costs of defmed benefit obligations
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016 and the retirement liabilities of defined benefit obligations recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
Retirement costs — defined benefit obligations:
Current service costs £22.615 B18,429 B13,681
Interest costs 4,002 2,274 1,136

£26,617 120,703 £14,817
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21. Retirement Costs — Defined Benefit Obligations — continued

December 31,
2018 2017
Retirement liabilities — defined benefil obligalions (at present value):

Balance at beginning of year £69,199 41,644
Current service costs 22,615 18,429
Interest costs 4,002 2,274
Remeasurement (gain) loss due to:

Experience adjustments (7,108) 2,066

Changes in demographic assumptions - 7,758

Changes in financial assumptions {14,643) (2,97
Balance ai end of year P74,065 B69,199

The principal assuinptions used in determining the Group’s retirement liabilities for defined benefit

obligations as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as foliows:

December 31,
2018 2017
Discount rate 7.36% 5.79%
Salary increase rate 3.00% 3.00%
Moralily raie 2017 PICM 2017 PICM
Disability rate 1952 Disability Study, 1952 Disability Study,
Period 2, Benefit 5 Period 2, Benefit 5

Tumover rate A scale ranging from
21% atage 18 to

0% at age 60

The Groﬁp does not maintain a fund for its retirement benefit obligations.

A scale ranging from
21% at age 1810

0% at age GO O

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the expected maturity of undiscounted expected benefit payments

are as follows:

December 31,

2018 2017
Plan year:
Less than 1 year P8§,143 B16)
More than | year but less than 5 years 28,418 22,209
More than 5 years but less than 10 years 69,120 57,354
More than 10 years but less than 15 years 214,449 204,087
More than 15 years but less than 20 years 223,761 234,920
More than 20 years 538,123 534,939

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the average duration of the expected benefit payments were 19.38

and 19.81 years, respectively.
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21. Retirement Costs — Defined Benefit Obligations — continued

As above, the retirement benefit obligations are subject to several key assumptions. The following
sensitivity analysis summarizes the impact of key assumptions which have been determined based on
reasonably possible changes of each significant assumption on the retirement benefit obligations as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, assuming all other assumptions were held constant. The sensitivity
analysis may not be representative of an actval change in the defined benefit obligations as it is
unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

December 31, 2018
Effect on Present
Value of Oblipations

Discount rate: '
8.36% (Actual + 1.00%) B66,546

7.36% (Actual) 74,065

6.36% (Actual - 1.00%) 82,924
Salary increase rate:

4.00% (Actual + 1.00%) £83,619

3.00% (Actual) 74,065

2.00% (Actual - 1.00%) 65,873

December 31, 2017
Effect on Present
Value of Obligations

Discount rate:

6.79% (Actual + 1.00%) Bol1,111

5.79% (Actual) 69.199

4.79% (Actual — 1.00%) 78,828
Salary increase rate:

4.00% (Actual + 1.00%) B79,392

3.00% (Actual) 69,199

2.00% {Actual — 1.00%) 60,537

22, Cooperation Agreement, Operating Agreement and Lease Agreement

Pursuant to a memorandum of agreement entered by a Melco’s subsidiary with the Philippine Parties
and certain of its subsidiaries in 2012 for the development of City of Dreams Manila, the relevant
parties of the Licensees and certain of its subsidiaries, entered into the following agreements which
became effective on March 13, 2013 and end on the date of expiry of the Regular License, currently
expected to be on July 11, 2033 unless terminated earlier in accordance with the respective terms of the
individual agreements.
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22. Caoperation Agreement, Operating Agreement and Lease Agreement — continued
(a) Cooperation Agreement

The Licensees and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a cooperation agreement (the
“Cooperation Agreement”) and other related arrangements which govern the rights and obligations
of the Licensees. Under the Cooperation Agreement, Melco Resorts Leisure is appointed as the
sole and exclusive representative of the Licensees in connection with the Regular License and is
designtated as the operator (o operate and manage City of Dreams Manila,

{b) Operating Agreement

The Licensees entered into an operating agreement (the “Operating Agreement”) which governs O
the operation and management of City of Dreams Manila by Melco Resorts Leisure. Under the
Operating Agreement, Melco Resorts Leisure is appointed as the sole and exclusive operator and
manager of City of Dreamns Manila, and is responsible for, and has sole discretion (subject to
certain exceptions) and control over, all matters relating to the operation and management of City
of Dreams Manila (including the gaming and non-gaming operations). The Operating Agreement
also includes tenns of certain monthly payments to PLAI from Melco Resorls Leisure, based on
the performance of gaming operations of City of Dreams Manila, and is included in “Payments 10
the Philippine Parlies” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, and further
provides that Melco Resorts Leisure has the right to retain all revenues from non-gaming
operations of City of Dreams Manila.

(c) Lease Agreement
Melco Resorts Leisure and Belle entered into a lease agreement, as amended from time to time {the
“Lease Agreement”) under which Belle agreed to lease to Melco Resorls Leisure the land and
certain of the building structures for City of Dreams Manila. The leased property is used by Me}coo
Resorts Leisure and any of its affiliates exclusively as a hotel, casino and resort complex.

23. Commitmeunts and Contingencies

(a) Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2018, the Group had capital commitments contracted for but not provided

mainly for the acquisitions of property and equipment for City of Dreams Manila totaling
£786,381.
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23. Commitments and Contingencies — continued
(b) Lease Commitments
Operating Leases — As a Lessee

The Group leased a portion of land under the Lease Agreement for City of Dreams Manila and
certain office spaces, warehouses, staff quarter and various equipment under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements that expire at various dates through July 2033. Cerain lease
agreements provide for periodic renta] increases based on both confractually agreed incremental
rates and on general inflation rates once agreed by the Group and its lessors or contingent rental
expenses stated as a percentage of turnover. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, rental expenses amounting to B202,553, 220,837 and R 266,136, respectively, were
recognized and included in other expenses in the consolidated slatements of comprehensive
income (Note 15). No contingent rental expenses were recognized for the years ended December
31,2018, 2017 and 2016.

As of December 31, 2018, future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
were as follows:

December 31,

2018
Within one year 156,406
In more than one year and not more than five years 705,495
In more than five years 1,729,557
$2,591,458

Operating Leases — As a Lessor

The Group entered into non-cancellable operating lease agreements mainly for mail spaces in City
of Dreams Manila with various retailers that expire at various dates through December 2021.
Ceriain of the operating lease agreements include minimum base fees with escalated contingent fee
clauscs. Contingent fees amounting to 14,140, 11,160 and 9,178 were recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

As of December 31, 2018, future minimum fees to be received under non-cancellable operating
lease were as follows:

December 31,

2018
‘Within one year $52,240
In more than one year and not more than five years 16,820
£69,060

The total future minimum fees do not include the escalated contingent fee clauses.
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23. Commitments and Contingencies — continued
(c) Other Commitments
Regular License
Other commitments required by PAGCOR under the Regular License include as follows:

(i) To secure a surety bond in favor of PAGCOR in the amount of B100 million to ensure
prompt and punctual remittances/payments of all Jicense fees.

(it} License fees must be remitled on a monthly basis, in Heu of all taxes with reference to the O
income component of the gross gaming revenues: (a) 15% high roller tables; (b) 25% non-
high roller tables; (¢) 25% slot machines and electronic gaming machines; and (d) 15%
Jjunket operations. The license fees are inclusive of the 5% franchise tax under the PAGCOR
Charter.

(iti) The Licensees are required 1o remit 2% of casino revenues generated from non-junket
operation tables to a foundation devoted 1o the restoration of Philippine cultural heritage, as
selected by the Licensees and approved by PAGCOR.

(iv) PAGCOR may collect a 5% fee on non-gaming revenue received from food and beverage,
retail and entertaimnent outlets. All revenues for hotel operations should not be subject to
the 5% fee except for rental income received from retail concessionaires.

{v)  Grounds for revocation of the Regular License, among others, are as follows: (a) failure to
comply with any material provisions in this license; (b) failure to remit license fees within 30
days from receipt of notice of default; (c) has become bankrupt or insolvent; and (d) if the O
debt-to-equity ratio is more than 70:30.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, MPHIL Holdings Group, as one of the Licensee parties,
has complied with the required debt-to-equity ratio under the definifion as agreed with
PAGCOR. For further details refer to Note 24 under capital risk management.

Coaperation Agreement

Under the terms of the Cooperation Agreement, the Licensees are jointly and severally liable to
PAGCOR under the Regular License and each Licensee (indemnifying Licensee) must indemnify
the other Licensees for any losses suffered or incurred by that Licensees arising out of, or in
connection with, any breach by the indemnifying Licensee of the Regular License. Also, each of
the Philippine Parties and MPHIL Holdings Group agree to indemnify the non-breaching party for
any losses suffered or incusred as a result of a breach of any warranties.

{d) Guarantee

Melco Resorts Leisure has issued a corporate guarantee of 2100 million to a bank in respect of the
surety bond issued to PAGCOR as disclosed in Note 23(c)(3).



59

MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION AND
SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

23. Commitments and Coutipgencies — continued

{e) Litigation

As of December 31, 2018, the Group is a parly io cerfain lepal proceedings which relate to maiters
arising out of the ordinary course of its business. Management believes that the outcome of such
proceedings will have no material impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as a
whole.

24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group has financial assets and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, securily deposits, other deposits and receivables, amounts due from/to related
parties, accoun(s payable, accrued expenses, other payables and other current liabilities, obligations
under a finance lease, long-term debt and other non-current labilities which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and foreign exchange risk. Management reviews and approves policies for managing each of these
risks and they are sunmumnarized below.

Interest Rate Risk

Other than the bank balances which carry interest at market rates and the Senior Notes which carry
interest at a fixed rate, the Group has no other significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities and its
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Accordingly,
management is of the opinion that the Group does not have significant interest rate risks.

Credit Risk _
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resuiting in a
financial loss to the Group.

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the policy of the Group that
all fliird parties who wish to trade on credit terms are subjected to credit verification procedures., Other
current and non-current assets are monitored on an on-going basis with the result that the exposure of
the Group to bad debts is not significant. The Group does not offer credit terms to third panies,
without the specific approval of management. '

With respect to credit risk fromn the financial assets of the Group, which are composed of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, security deposits, other deposits and receivables and
amounts due from related parties, the exposure of the Group to credit risk arises from the defauit of a
bank where the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are deposited, the default of the
counterparties for which accounts receivable, security deposits and other deposits and receivables are
held and the default in repayments from the related parties, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amount of these instruments.
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24, Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies - continued

Credit Risk - continued

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk comsist
principally of casino receivables. The Group issues credit in the form of markers to approved casino
customers following investigations of creditworthiness. Credit is also given o its gamming promoters,
which receivables can be offset against commissions payable and any other items of value held by the
Group on behalf of the respective customers and for which the Group intends to set off such amounts
when such right exists. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, a substantial portion of the Group’s
markers were due from customers and gaming promoters residing in foreign countries. Business or
economic conditions, the legal enforceability of gaming debts, or other significant evenis in foreign
countries could affect the collectability of receivables from customers and gaming promoters residing O
in these countries. Should there be any change in circumsiances pertaining to one of these gaming
promoters, it could have a material effect to the carrying amount of casino receivables.

The Group believes that the concentration of its credit risk in casino receivables is mitigaled
substantially by its credit evaluation processes, credit policies, credit comtrols and collection
procedures, and also believes that no significant credit risk is inherent in the Group’s accounts
receivable not provided with allowances for doubtful debts as at December 31, 2018 and 2017. Other
than casino receivables, there are no other concentrations of credit risk.

Credit Risk Exposures

The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets represent the maximum exposure to credit risk and
the Group did not hold any collateral or credit enhancements to cover iis credit risk associated with its
financial assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Credit Quality per Class of Financial Assels

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are considered as high grade and include deposits made
to teputable banks in the Philippines. Accounts receivable and other deposits and receivables O
{excluding amounts past due but not impaired) are considered as high grade as the Group only trades
with recognized and creditworthy third parties. Amounts due from related parties (other than Melco)
are considered as high grade as Melco will provide financial support to the related parties of the Group
to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due. Amount due from Melco is considered as high
grade as Melco is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and has positive financial
performances. Security deposits are also classified as high grade since the security deposits in relation
to the Lease Agreement are placed with Belle, a company listed on the PSE with positive financial
performances to date. The credit risks for these financial assets have not increased significantly since

initial recognition and for which the loss allowances are measured at an amount equal to 12-months
ECLs.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment of accounts receivable, see Note 7 1o the
consolidated financial statements.

Lignidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential of not meeting obligations as they become due because of an inability to
liquidate assets or obtain adequate funding or is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its
obligations associated with financial difficulties.
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24, Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies — continued

Liquidity Risk — continued

The Group uses historical data and forecasts on its collections and disbursements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet capital expenditures and operational needs and manages its liquid funds through
cash planning on a monthly basis. The forecast takes into consideration the Group’s issuance of new
shares, debt financing plans and covenant compliance requirements and funding from infermediate

holding companies.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group's financial assets held for liquidity
purposes and financial liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 based on undiscounted contractual

cash flows.

Financia! Asscts

Casls and cash cquivalents
Restricied cash

Accounis receivable, net
Deposits and receivables, net
Amounts due from related parties

Financial Liabilities

Accountis payable

Accrued expenses, other payables
and other current liabilities'

Amounts due to related parties

Current partion of oblipations under
a finance lease

Non-current pertion of obligations
under a finance lease

Other nan-current Habilities

December 31, 2018

1-3 3J-5 Over

Wirthin | Year Years Years 3. Years Total
£G6,808,712 = [ B £6,808,712
867,591 - - - 867,591
1,476.364 - - - 1,476,364
57,740 - - 350,600 408,340
139,564 - - - 139,564
£151,145 B [ o [ R151,145
3,017,174 - - - 3,017,174
186,880 - - 186,880
1,961,015 - - - 1,961,015
- 4,544,135 4,938,085 24,602,726 34,084,446
- 15,338 2,265 - 17,600

(1) The balance included cerlain outstanding gaming chips and tokens and advance customer deposils
that are pant of the contract liabilities as disclosed in Note 3.
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24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies — continued

Liquidity Risk — continued
December3i. 2017

-3 3-5 Over
Within | Year Years Years 5 Years Total

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents P6,332,581 o 2 2 £6,332,581]
Resiricted cash 549,765 - - - 549,765
Atcounts receivable, net 1,328,372 - - - 1,328,372
Deposits and receivables, nej 154,385 6,420 - 266,311 427,616
Amounts due from related parties 163,670 - - - 163,670
Financial Linbilities
Accounts payable . P136,758 P P P R136,758
Accrued expenses, other payables

and other current Babilities 1,604,147 - - - 1,604,147
Amounls due to related parties 100,291 - -~ - 100,291
Current partion of abligaiions under

a finance lease 1,786,101 - - - 1,786.101
Non-current porlion of obligations

under a finance lease - 4,121,938 4,821,037 27,101,474 36,044,449
Long-term debt ~ 7,500,000 - - 7.500,000

Interest expenses payable

on fong-term debt {including

withholding 1ax) 468,750 29,948 - - 498,098
Other finance fees payable

on long-term deb {including

grass-up withholding tax) 23916 1,528 - - 25444
Other non-current liabilities - 17,619 1,185 - 18.804

Foreign Exchanee Risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of monetary assets and monetary labilities will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group has foreign currency exposures arising from translation of certain monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), US$ and Macau Patacas (“MOP”). Foreign exchange risks of the Group arc
regularly reviewed by management and appropriate processes are in place 10 monitor and mitigate the
said risks by maintaining a certain amount of operating funds in the same currencies in which the Group
has obligations to pay from tine to time. Management decides not to hedge the currency exposures
considering the cost of hedging being higher than the currency exposures.

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities, ranslated into Philippine peso
equivalents, are as follows:

December 31. 2018
HKS Philippine Uss Philippine MOP Philippine
{In Unit) Peso {In Uniy Peso {1n Unit) Peso
Monetary Assels 187,544,979 1,262,606 5,178,312 273,017 516 3
Monetary Liabilities {47,864,742) (322,239 (901,803) (47,546)  (20,500,644) (133,996)

139,680,237 940,367 4,276,509 225471 (20,500,128) (133,993)
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24. Financijal Risk Management Objectives and Policies — continned

Foreicn Exchange Risk — continued

December 31, 2017

HKS Philippine uss Philippine MOP Philippine

(in Unit) Peso {In Unit) Peso {In Unit) Peso
Monetary Asscts 329,276.772 2112916 8,385,338 428,606 - -
Monetary Liabilities (6,477,737} 41,567 (361,712) {18,058y  (9,439.724) (58.809)
322,799,035 2.071,349 8,223,626 410,548 (9,439,724} (58.809)

In franslating the foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities into Philippine peso
amounts, the Group used the following rates of exchange as of December 31, 2018 and 2017

December 31,
2018 2017
Philippine peso to 1 unit of foreign currency:
HK. 6.73 6.42
USs 52.72 49.92
MOP 6.54 6.23

The sensitivity of the profit before income tax with regard to the Group’s monelary asseis and
monetary liabilities in HK$, US§ and MOP translated into Philippine peso with +/-1.1% and +/-0.9%
changes in exchange rates for each of the foreign currencies as mentioned above for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The changes in currency rates are based on the Group’s
best estimate of expected changes considering historical trends and experience.

If the Philippine peso had strengthened against HKS and USS, with all other variables held constant,
profil before income tax would have decreased by 10,344 and £2,480 for the year ended December
31, 2018, respectively, mainly as a result of the translation of HK$ and US$ denominated cash and
cash equivalents. If the Philippine peso had strengthened against MOP, with all other variables held
constant, profit before income fax would have increased by £1.474 for the year ended December 31,
2018, mainly as a result of the translation of MOP denominated amounts due to related parties. If the
Philippine peso had strengthened against HK$ and US$, with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax would have decreased by 218,642 and 3,695 for the year ended December 31,
2017, respectively, mainly as a result of the translation of HKS and US$ denominated cash and cash
equivalents. If the Philippine peso had strengthened against MOP, with all other variables held
constant, profit before income tax would have increased by 529 for the year ended December 31,
2017, mainly as a result of the translation of MOP denominated amounts due to related parties.

However, if the Philippine peso had weakened against HK$, US$ and MOP by the same percentages,
profit before income tax would have changed in the opposite direction by the saine amounts.
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24. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies — continued

Capital Risk Management

The primary objectivé of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group has sufficient
funds in order to support its business, pay existing obligations and maximize shareholder value. The
Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To manage or adjust the capital structure, the Group may obtain funding from issuance of
new shares, debt financing and from intermediate holding companies.

The Group considers total equity and long-term debt as its capital which amounted to #8,098,790 and
12,875,452 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Under the terms of the Regular License, it requires each of the Licensees to maintain a debt-to-equity O
ratio under the definition as agreed with PAGCOR (the “I/E Ratio™) of not more than 70:30. The
Group’s strategy is to monitor capital and maintain the D/E Ratio to comply with the PAGCOR
requirements. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, MPHIL Holdings Group, as one of the Licensee
parties, has complied with the D/E Ratio as required by PAGCOR.

25. Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and casli equivalents, Restricted cash, Accounts receivable, Deposits and receivables, Amounts
due from/io related parties, Accounts payable and Accrued expenses, other payables and other current
liabilities

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the carrying values approximate their fair values at the reporting
dates due to the relatively short-terin inaturities of the transactions.

Security deposits, Obligations under a finance lease and Long-ferm debt O
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the carrying values approximate their fair values, which are
measured by discounting estimated future cash flows to present value using a credit-adjusted discount
rate.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial
instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusied) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is nnobservable.
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25. Financial Instruments — continned

Fair Value Hierarchy — continned
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group does not have financial instruments that are carried and
measured at fair value. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers

between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurements.

26. Note to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Major Non-cash Transactions

(a) For the year ended December 31, 2018, fit-out construction costs and costs of property and
equipment totaling 189,255, nil and nil were funded through accrued expenses, other payables
and other current liabilitics, amounts due to related parties and other non-current liabilities,
respectively (For the year ended December 31, 2017: 138,582, nil and nil, respectively; and for
the year ended December 31, 2016: $8,547, 23,097 and P1,483, respectively).

(b) For the year ended December 31, 2017, accruals for property and equipment of 823,138 were
reversed for projeet costs adjustments (For the year ended December 31, 2016: 255,704).

(c) For the year ended December 31, 2016, amounts due to related parties of B10,357 were offset with
amounts due from related parties.

(d) For the year ended December 31, 2016, part of the reimbursable amount from the Philippine
Parties to the MPHIL Holdings Group for consideration of disposals of property and equipment to
Belle of 1,152,700 were offset by escrow funds refundable to the Philippine Parties.

Changes in Liabilifies Arising from Financing Activities

Obligations
under a
Long-term Finance
Debt Lease
As of January 1, 2017 B14,848.500 714,586,355
Net change of cash flows from financing activities (7,500,000} (1,644,802)
Others'" 111,134 1,992,199
As of December 31, 2017 7,459,634 14,933,752
Net change of cash flows from financing activities (7,500,000} (1,782,631)
Others'” 40,366 2,032,700
As of December 31, 2018 o £15,183,821

{1} Others mainly represent the effect of movements in debt financing costs and interest incurred on obligations under a
finance leasc.
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27. Share Incentive Plan

The Group adopted the Share Incentive Plan, effective on June 24, 2013, which has been subsequently
amended and restated, for grants of various share-based awards, including but not limited to, options fo
purchase the Parent Company’s common shares, restricied shares, share appreciation rights and other
types of awards to eligible directors, employees and consultants of the Group and its affiliates. The
maximum tenm of an award is ten years from the date of grant. The maximum aggrepate number of
common shares 10 be available for all awards under the Share Incentive Plan is 442,630,330 shares and
with up to 5% of the issued capital stock of the Parent Company from time to time over ten years. As
of December 31, 2018, there were 151,992,134 common shares available for grants of various share-
based awards under the Share Incentive Plan.

Share Options

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the exercise prices for share options granted
under the Share Incentive Plan were determined with reference to the marke! closing prices of the
Parent Company’s common shares on the dates of grant as defined in the Share Incentive Plan. These
share options generally became exercisable over vesting periods of two 1o three years. The share
options granted expire ten years {from the date of grant. There was no share options granted under the
Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2016.

The Group uses the Black-Scholes valuation model to deiermine the estimated fair value for each share
option granted, with highly subjective assumptions, changes in which could materially affect the
estimated fair value. Dividend yield is based on the estimate of annual dividends expecied 1o be paid
at the time of the grant. Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Parent
Company’s common shares trading on the PSE and the historica) volatility of a peer group of publicly
traded companies. Expected term is based upon the vesting termi or the historical expected term of
Melco. The risk-free interest rate used for each period presented is based on the Philippine
government bond yield at the time of grant for the period equal to the expected term.

The fair values of share options granted under the Share Incentive Plan were estimated on the date of
grant using the following weighted average assuinptions as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Expected dividend yield - - -
Expected stock price volatility 45% 45% -
Risk-free interest rate 5.69% 4.47% -
Expected average term (years) 5.6 5.9 -
Weighted average share price per share £7.80 B3.27 £
Weighted average exercise price per share $7.80 B3.27 B
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27. Share Incentive Plan — continued
Share Options — continued

On August 2, 2016, the Board approved a proposal to allow for an option exchange program, designed
to provide eligible personnel an opportunity to exchange certain outstanding underwater share options
for new restricted shares 10 be granted (the “Option Exchange Program™). Share options eligible for
exchange were those that were granted during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 under the
Share Incentive Plan, including those unvested, or vested but not exercised. The acquiescence of the
SEC on the Option Exchange Program was obtained by the Group on September 30, 2016. The
exchange was subject to the eligible personnel’s consent and became effective on October 21, 2016,
which was the deadline for acceptance of the exchange by the eligible personnel. A total of 96,593,629
eligible share.options were tendered by eligible personnel, representing 99.2% of the total share
options eligible for exchange. The Group granted an aggregate of 43,700,116 new restricted shares in
exchange for the eligible share options surrendered. The new restricted shares have vesting periods of
three years. Total incremental share-based compensation expenses resulting from the Option
Exchange Program was approximately 242,425, representing the excess of the fair value of the new
restricted shares over the fair value of the surrendered share options immediately before the exchange.
The fair value of the new restricted shares was determined with reference to the market closing price of
the Parent Company’s common shares at the effective date of the exchange. The incremental share-
based compensation expense is being recognized over the new vesting period.

A summary of share options activily under the Share Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2018, and
changes for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are presented as follows:

Weighted
Number Average
of Share Exercise

Options  Price per Share

Outstanding as of January 1, 2016 cvvccnrerrrereviesevneenesevressssisresenens 124,710,632 B3 22
| B (=31 =1« RV OT TR (6,850,299) 0.68
Cancelled under Option Exchange Progrant......c.coeceeceveececcrevererececenca (96,593,629) _ 8.39
5011 T OO OSSP (8,891,994) 3.81

Qutstanding as of December 31, 2016 ......ccooniinricecicc e 12,374,710 5.72
GTANLEA. ...ceeeeereeeriere ettt are e e se s e s r e ereas s creabe s mrmsamea gt e sneeenr 7,143,469 8.27
EREICISEU. cueiiiiviiriieie et e e ses s s es e s e nssna e saesassansenrases (1.040,485) 8.30
| S5 1 (=« DO U S (3,410,501) 8.59

QOutstanding as of December 31, 2017 .....cocccmeeeecececeeece e eresirenene - 15,067,193 6.10
GIANLEA. ...t cctre e e s e sscraesams e e e st aesneesasesssansnaenssensenssans 2,158,552 7.80
FOITEIEd ..o scaer e mrsser e e st rs s s ssssssrn e esas s emsenssnereetsas (190,240) 8.98

QOutstanding as of December 31, 2018 ..o rere s 17,035,505 £6.28

Exercisable as of December 31, 2018 ..o stsssesr e s sserns 7,923,724 P4.15
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27. Share Incentive Plan — continued
Share Options - continued

The range of exercise prices and the weighted average remaining contractual terms of the above share
options outstanding as at the dates indicated are as follows:

Year Ended Decentber 31,

2018 2017 2016
Number Weighted Weighted Weighted
of Share Average Numhber Average Number Average

Opiions  Remaining  of Share  Remaining  of Share  Remaining
Outstanding Contractual  Options  Contractual  Options  Contractual

(Mote) - Term Quistanding Term Quistanding Term
Exercise price per share:

£ T T 6,796,532 6.88  6,796.532 7.88 6,796,532 8.88
. 1,531,112 8.21 1,531,112 9.2] - -
2,158,552 9.25 - - - -
1,127,192 449 1,127,192 549  5375.838 6.59
5,422,117 8.59¢ 5,612,357 9.59 - -
- - - - 202,340 7.42
17,035,505 7.469% 15,067,193 847 12374710 7.86

Note: 3,398,260 share options vested for the year ended Decemnber 31, 20138,

Share options exercised for the year ended December 31, 2017 resulied in 1,040,485 common shares of

the Parent Company being issued at a weighted average price of 8.30. The related weighted average
share price at the time of exercise was P8.60 during the year, No share options were exercised for the O
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2016.

Restricred Shares

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the prant dale fair values for restricted shares
granted under the Share Incentive Plan were determined with reference to the market closing prices of
the Parent Company’s common shares on the dates of grant as defined in the Share Incentive Plan.
These restricted shares generally have vesting periods of two to three years. There were no restricted
shares grantcd under the Share Incentive Plan during the year ended December 31, 2016,
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27, Share Incentive Plan — continued
Restricted Shares — continued

A summary of restricted shares activity under the Share Incentive Plan as of December 31, 2018, and
changes for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are presented as follows:

Number of Weighted
Restricted Averape Grant
Shares Dale Fair Value

Unvested as of January 1, 2016....c.o e 28,531,215 £3.12
Granted under Option Exchange Program .......ccccecvcccinivcmninceeneen. 43,700,116 438
VESIEA ..eiiereeecricrerersess e csneesc e e esarvresns s s ssessasaasa sabenns sasesastasranse {19,541,800) 3.36
FOTTRIted . .oeenrererceeccri e rr e ces vt sene st sse s sae e sbae e e sesse b neeeansasaners (3.433,823) 10.10

Unvested as of December 31, 2010, i ieeceiiaerces e 49,255,708 4.57
GIANMLEA. ..ot ceeeee e v e rrraesec e ee s s resenesoesbsnnnsbnes sr sebbesesnsaneson 7,298,372 8.22
VESLEA 1o er e rm e e v et vs st s s s et eas e n e ra st e rasn e vrasance (2,826,644) 3.02
FOITCIHEA. . voveeseeerte e e cecvsevnsenaressreecreesssneetsansnssssaransarassnssassrsssanen (5,081,073) 4.45

Unvested as of December 31, 2017 48,646,363 4,91
(18 €251 1=+ RO SRRSO SO 6,482,482 7.34
VESIEU eereeceecrearnrrirreririerciesiresssresrerasiesserbesrsssearesansneeseassnssssssensensenes (20,506.393) 4.49
FOIfRileq ..o e et e s eca e s e e e e s mr e s b b s enns e (5,177,792) 4.46

Unvested as of December 31, 2018, 29.444.660 $5.82

The impact of share options and restricted shares for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016 recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

Year Ended December 31

018 2017 2016
Share Incentive Plan:
Share options (B53,764) (R13,051) (23,585)
Restricted shares 52,985 39,059 14,127
Total share-based compensation (B779) £26,008 B10,542

28. Segment Information

The Group principal operating and developmental activities are engaged in the gaming and hospitality
business in the Philippines. The chief operating decision-maker monitors ils operations and evaluates
earnings by reviewing the assets and operations of City of Dreams Manila as one operating segment. As
of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Group operates in one geographical area, the Philippines,
where it derives its revenue,
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28, Segment Information — continued
The Group’s segment information for total assets and capital expenditures is as follows:

December 31,

2018 2017 2016
Total assels — All in the Philippines
at City of Dreams Manila £33,156,762 P34,428,399 P41,690,660
Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 O
Total capital expenditures — All in the Philippines '
at City of Dreams Manila®! B1,201,622 £709,700 B448.264

{1) For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, the smounts of total capital expenditures did not include the adjustments
for reversal of project cosis of 23,138 and 255,704, respectively. There were no adjusimenis to project costs for the year
ended December 31, 2018,
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28. Segment Information — continued

The Group’s segment information on its results of operations is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016
NET OPERATING REVENUES
The Philippines -
City of Dreains Manila P32,425,748 B32,755,217 823,418,789
ADJUSTED EBITDAY
The Philippines —
City of Dreams Manila 14,187,720 £11,854,024 £7.561,263
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
Payments to the Philippine Parties (3,211,857) (2,609,353) (1,642,175)
Land rent to Belle (158,469) (158,469) (158,478)
Net gain on disposals of property and equipment
to Belle - - 380,454
Pre-opening costs (8,500) - -
Depreciation and amortization (4,015,503) (4,285,650) (4,388,885)
Share-based compensation 779 (26,008) (10,542)
Corporate expenses (1,483,829) (1,447,588) (562,247}
Property charges and other (380,445) {132,849 73,399
Total Operating Costs and Expenses (9,257,824) (8,639,917) (6,308,474)
OPERATING PROFIT 4,929,896 3,194,107 1,252,789
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income 53,233 43,955 20,300
Interest expenses, net of capitalized interest (2,413,092) (2,883,021) (2,940,000)
Other finance fees {17,968) (42,384) (47,832)
Foreign exchange gains, net 183,211 128,190 215,840
Loss ot extinguishment of debt T (12,144) (48,641) -
Total Non-operating Expenses, Net (2,206,760) (2,801,901) (2,751,692)
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 2,723,136 392,206 (1,498,903)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (61,136) (38,283) (82,396)
NET PROFIT (LOSS) $2,662,000 P353,923 (R1,581,299)

{1} “Adjusted EBITDA™ is carnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, paymments to the Philippine Parties, land
rent to Belle, net gain on disposals of property and cquipment to Belle, pre-opening costs, sharc-based compensation,
corporate expenses, property charges and other, and other non-operating income and expenses. The chief operating
decision-maker uses Adjusted EBITDA to measure the operating performance of City of Dreams Manila and to compare the
operating performance of its property with those of its competitors.
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28. Segment Information - continued
The Group’s geographic information for long-lived assets is as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Total long-lived assets — All in the Philippines P21,118,953 823945213 $27,735,886




i
o
T

e

SGV SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.  Tel: (832) 891 0307  BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0001,

6760 Ayala Averue Fax: (632) 818 0872 Oclober 4, 2018, valid unlil August 24, 2021
] ) 1226 Makati City ey.com/iph SEG Accreditation No. 0042-FR-5 (Group A).
Buiiding a better Phitippines Novembrer 8, 2018, valid untit November 5, 2021

working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation
Asean Avenue cor. Roxas Boulevard

Brgy. Tambo, Parafiaque City 1701

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial
statements of Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in
equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2018, included in this Form 17-A and have issued our report thereon dated

March 21, 2019. Ouwr audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial
statements taken as a whole., The schedules listed in the Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Supplementary Schedules are the responsibility of the Group’s management. These schedules are
presented for purposes of complying with Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, As Amended (2011), and
are not part of the basic financial statements. The schedules have been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly state, in all
material respects, the information required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

/R&L:. botceo

oel E, Lucas

Partner

CPA Certificate No. 98200

SEC Accreditation No. 1079-AR-2 (Group A),
March 2, 2017, valid until March 1, 2020
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BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-95-2016,
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Framework for the Preparation and Presentahan of Fmanc:a!

Statements

Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and qualitative

characteristics

PFRSs Practice Statement 1: Management Commentary X

PFRSs Pracfice Statement 2: Making Materiality Judgements X

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards

PFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial X

(Revised) Reporting Standards

PFRS 2 Share-based Payment X
Amendment to PFRS 2: Definition of Vesting : X
Condition
Amendments to PFRS 2: Classification and X
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

PFRS 3 Business Combinations X

(Revised)

Amendmenis to PFRS 3; Accounting for Continpent X
Consideration in a Business Combination

Amendments io PFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint X
Ventures

Amendments 1o PFRS 3: Definition of a Business X

Amendments to PFRS 3: Previously Held Interest in X
a Joint Operation

PERS 4 Insurance Contracis

Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS 9 with X
PFRS 4

PFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued X
Operations '

Amendment to PFRS 5: Changes in Method of X
Disposal

>

PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evalvation of Mineral X
Resources

PFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures X

Amendments to PFRS 7: Servicing Contracts x

Amendments to PFRS 7: Applicability of 1he X
Amendments to PFRS 7 to Condensed Interim
Financial Statements

PFRS B Operating Segments

Amendments io PFRS 8: Aggrepation of Operating X
Segments

i
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Amendments to PFRS 3 Reconc:hat;on of the Total X
of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s
Assels
PFRS 9 Financial Instruments X
(2014) Amendments to PFRS 9: Prepayment Features with X
Negative Compensation
PFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements X
Amendments to PFRS 10 : Applying the X
Consolidation Exception
Amendments 10 PFRS 10 - Sale or Contribution of X
Assers between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
PFRS 11 Joint Arrangements X
Amendments to PFRS 11 : Accounting for X
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
Amendments to PFRS 11: Previously held interest X
in a joint operation
PFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities X
Amendments to PFRS 12: Applying the X
Consolidation Exception
Amendment to PFRS 12: Clarification of the Scope X
of the Standard
PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement X
Amendment to PFRS 13 : Porifolio Exception X
PEFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts X
PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers X
PFRS 16 Leases X
PERS 17 Insurance Coniracts X
Philippine Accounting Standards
PAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements X
(Revised) :
Amendments to PAS 1: Disclosure Tnitiative X
Amendments to PAS 1: Definition of Material X
PAS 2 Inventories X
PAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows X
Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Injtiative X
PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting X
Estimates and Errors
Amendments to PAS 8: Definition of Material X
PAS 10 Events after the Reporiing Period X
PAS 12 Income Taxes X
Amendment to PAS 12: Recognition of Deferred X
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Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses

Amendments to PAS 12: Income Tax Consequences
of Payments on Financial Instruments Classified as
Equity

PAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment X
Amendment to PAS16 : Revaluation Method -
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Depreciation
Amendment to PAS16 : Clarification of Acceptable X
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization
Amendment to PAS 16: Bearer Plants
PAS 17 Leases X
PAS 19 Employee Benefits X
(Revised) _
Amendments 10 PAS 19; Defined Benefit Plans: X
Employee Contributions
Amendments to PAS 19; Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments 10 PAS 19: Discount Rate: Regional X
Markel Issue
PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure
of Government Assistance
PAS 21 The Effecls of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates X
PAS 23 Borrowing Costs X
(Revised) Amendments to PAS 23 : Borrowing Cosis Eligible
for Capitalization
PAS 24 Related Party Disclosures X
(Revised) ) '
Amendment to PAS 24 ; Key Management X
Personnel
PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit
Plans
PAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
(Amended)
Amendments to PAS 27 : Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements
PAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
{Amended)

Amendments to PAS 28 : Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture

Amendments to PAS 28 : Applying the
Consolidation Exception i

Amendment to PAS 28; Measuring an Associate or
Joint Venture at Fair Value
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Amendmems to PAS 28: Long-lerm Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

PAS 29

Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies

PAS 32

Financial Instruments: Presentation

PAS 33

Earmings per Share

PAS 34

Interim Financial Reporting

Amendment to PAS 34 ; Disclosure of Information
‘Elsewhere in the Interim Financial Report’

b I B

PAS 36

Impairment of Assets

>

PAS 37

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assels

>

PAS 38

Intangible Assets

Amendment to PAS 38 : Revaluation Method —
Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated
Amortization

Amendment to PAS 38 : Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and Amoriization

PAS 39

Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement

PAS 40

Investment Property

Amendment to PAS 40: Clarifying the
Interrelationship Between PFRS 3 and PAS 40
When Classifying Property as Investment Property
or Owner-occupied Propeny

Amendment to PAS 40 : Transfers of Invesinient
Property

PAS 41

Agriculture

Amendment to PAS 41: Bearer Plants

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 1

Changes in Existing Decomunissioning, Restoration
and Similar Liabilities

IFRIC 2

Members’ Share in Co-operative Entities and
Similar Instruments

IFRIC 4

Determining Whether an Armmangement Contains a
Lease

IFRIC &

Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation
Funds

IFRIC 6

Liabilities arising from Parlicipating in a Specific
Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

IFRIC 7

Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29
Finaneial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies

IFRIC 18

Interim Financial Reporting and linpairment




IFRIC 12

Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 14 PAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimun: Funding Requirements and their
Interaction
IFRIC 16 - |Hedges of a Net Investment in 3 Foreign Operation
IFRIC 19 Extinpuishing Financiai Liabilities with Equity
Instruments
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface
Mine
IFRIC 21 Levies X
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance X
Consideration
IFRIC 23 Unceriainty over Income Tax Treatments
SI1C-7 Introduction of the Euro
SIC-10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to
Operating Activities
SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives X
51C-25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an
Entity or its Shareholders
SIC-27 Evaluaiing the Substance of Transactions Involving X
the Legal Form of a Lease
SIC-29 Service Coneession Arrangements: Disclosures
SIC-32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORYT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation
Asean Avenue cor. Roxas Boulevard

Brgy. Tambo, Parafiaque City 1701

Report on the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements

Opinion O
We have audited the parent company financial statements of Melco Resorts and Entertainment

(Philippines) Corporation (the Company), which comprise the parent company balance sheets as at

December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the parent company statements of comprehensive income, parent

company statements of changes in equity and parent company statements of cash flows for the years then

ended, and notes to the parent company financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company financial staterents present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSAs). Qur

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit O
of the Parent Company Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company

in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)

together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the parent company financial

statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with

these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide 2 basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company financial
statements in accordance with PFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of parent company financial statements that are free from material
misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error. BUREAL OF INTERNAL REVENUE

LARGE TAXFAYERS SERWGE
LARGE TAXPAYERS ASSISTANRGE DIVISION
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In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high tevel of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with PSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these parent company financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit, We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve coliusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 1o the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the parent company financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadcquate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern,

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the paEnEGEERAR: ARG RSALRIEIEN UE
including the disclosures, and whether the parent company finandial stad3fdnEA% ﬁ%ﬁgﬁ?ﬁﬁ FSI ON
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair p’r@ﬁ%‘ JAKPAYERS ASSI ,
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, mcludmg any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

Report on the Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the parent company

financial statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information required under Revenue
Regulations 15-2010 in Note 17 to the parent company financial statements is presented for purposes of
filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of the management of Melco Resorts and Entertainment
(Philippines) Corporation. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our
audit of the basic financial statements. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial staternents taken as a whole.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Roel E. Lucas.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

L. e

Roel E. Lucas

Partner _

CPA Certificate No. 98200

SEC Accreditation No. 1079-AR-2 (Group A),
March 2, 2017, valid until March 1, 2020

Tax Identification No. 191-180-015

BIR Accreditation No. 08-001998-95-20186,
January 3, 2017, valid until January 2, 2020

PTR No. 7332567, January 3, 2019, Makati City

March 21, 2019
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation (the
“Company™} is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent
company financial statements including the schedules attached therein, for the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal confrol as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of parent company financial statements that are free from matenal
misstatemnent, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management cither intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the parent company financial statements
including the schedules attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has
audited the financial statements of the parent company in accordance with Philippine
Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on
the faimess of presentation upon completion of such audit.

{

CLARENCE YUKMAN CHUNG
President & Chairnjan of the Board

b‘

ey

DONALD N. TATEISHI
Treasurer
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR ANNUAL INCOME TAX RETURN

The management of Melco Resorts and Entertainment (Philippines) Corporation (the
“Company”™) is responsible for all infonnation and representations contained in the Annual
Income Tax Return for the year ended December 31, 2018. Management is likewise responsible
for all information and representations contained in the parent company financial statements
accompanying the Annual Income Tax Retum covering the same reporting period.
Furthermore, Management is responsible for all the information and representations contairied in
all the other tax retums filed for the reporting period including, but not limited to, the value
added tax and/or percentage tax returns, withholding tax retums, documentary stamp tax retums
and any and all other tax retums.

In this regard, Management affinns that the attached audited parent company financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the accompanying Annual Income Tax
Retumn are in accordance with the books and records of the Company, and are complete and
correct in all matenal respects, Management likewise affirms that:

(a) the Amual Income Tax Retuin has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
National Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and periinent tax regulations and other
issuances of the Department of Finance and the Bureau of Internal Revenue;

(b) any dispanty of figures in the submitied reports arising from the preparation of the financial
statements pursuant to financial accounting standards and the preparation of the income tax
retum pursuant to tax accounting rules has been reported as reconciling items and -
maintained in the Company’s books and records in accordance with the requirements of
Revenue Regulations No. 08-2007 and other relevant issuances;

(c) The Company has filed ali applicable tax returns, reports and statements required to be filed
under Philippine tax laws for the reporting period, and all taxes and other impositions shown
thereon to be due and payable have been paid for the reporting period, except those
contested in good faith. ‘

CLARENCE YUK
President & Chairmari of the Board

DONALD N. TATEISHI ; APR 11 208 /

Treasurer




MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) GCORPOR

DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of Philippine pesao, except share and per share data)

i
o "TLCIE)

- December 31,
Notes 2018 2017

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash cquivalents 5,14 and 15 £198,855 2220,672

Prepayments and other current assets 1,409 57

Amounts due from related parties 10, 14 and 15 200,873 198,775

[ncome tax recoverable 38 -~

Total Current Assets 401,175 419,504

Non-current Asset

Investment in a subsidiary 4] 27,688,500 27,688,590

Total Non-current Asset 27,688,500 27,688,590
£28,089,765 B28,108,094

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses, other payables and other current

liabilities 7, 14 and 15 P16,438 226,424
Amounts due to related parties 10, 14 and 15 31,863 30,595
Income tax payable - 179
Total Current Liabilities 48,301 57,198
Equity
Capital stock 8 5,687,271 5,666,764
Additional paid-in capital 22,259,788 22,108,082
Share-based compensation reserve 228,972 401,964
Accumulated deficit {134,567) (125,914)
Total Equity 28,041,464 28,050,896

$£28,089,765 828,108,094

Sece decompanying Notes to Parcnr Company Financial Statenents.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
{In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

Year Ended Deeember 31,
Notes 2018 2017
REVENUE
Management fee income 10 £3,763 B0 015
Total Revenue 3,763 0,915
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES
General and administrative expenses 0 (16,228) (70,658)
Total Operating Costs and Expenses (16,228) {70,658)
OPERATING LOSS (12,465) (60,743)
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest income 5 ' 3,674 1,304
Foreign exchange (losses) gains, net (7% 6
Total Non-operating Income, Net 3,595 1,310
1.OSS BEFORE INCOME TAX {8,870) (59,433)
INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) i1 217 {38)
NET L.OSS (8,653) (59,471)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS {£8,653) {859.471)

See accompunying Notes o Parent Company: Financial Statements.
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MELCO RESORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT (PHILIPPINES) CORPORATION

PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands of Philippine peso, except share and per share data)

Additional Share-based
Capital Stock Paid-in Compensation Accumulated
Notes {Note 8} Capital Reserve Deficit Total
Balance as of January 1, 3018 £5,666,764 £22,108,082 £401,964 (R125,914) $28,050,896
Met loss and total

comprehensive loss - - ~ (8,653) (8,653)
Issuance of shares for restricted

shares vesied 8and 16 20,507 151,706 (172,213} - -
Share-based compensation 16 - - (779} - {779
Balance as of December 31,

2018 £5,687,271 £22,259,788 P223.972 (£134,567) #£28,041,464
Balance as of